#### **Cookies on GOV.UK**

We use some essential cookies to make this website work.

We'd like to set additional cookies to understand how you use GOV.UK, remember your settings and improve government services.

We also use cookies set by other sites to help us deliver content from their services.

Accept additional cookies

Reject additional cookies

View cookies

**GOV.UK** 

✓ Menu

Home > Education, training and skills > Inspections and performance of education providers

> Research review series: PE



Research and analysis

# Research review series: PE

Published 18 March 2022

Contents

Introduction

Research review series: PE - GOV.UK

Context

The curriculum

The curriculum: progression in PE

The curriculum: types of knowledge in PE – declarative and procedural

The curriculum: learning is domain-specific The curriculum: selecting content to teach

The curriculum: learning takes time

The curriculum: content sequencing

The curriculum: extra-curricular activities

Further SEND-specific curriculum thinking

Pedagogy

Further SEND-specific pedagogy thinking

Assessment

Subject and whole-school policies

Further SEND-specific subject policy thinking

Conclusion



Print this page

## Introduction

High-quality PE is an entitlement for all pupils, regardless of their starting points or their prior experiences of sport and physical activity. The national curriculum states: [footnote 1]

" A high-quality physical education curriculum inspires all pupils to succeed and excel in competitive sport and other physically-demanding activities. It should provide opportunities for pupils to become physically confident in a way which supports their health and fitness. Opportunities to compete in sport and other activities build character and help to embed values such as fairness and respect."

In PE, pupils learn increasingly intelligent movement and important knowledge that can reduce barriers to participation and inform their own healthy, active lifestyle choices. PE provides a gateway into the world of sport and physical activity.

Beyond physical participation, the traditions and cultural reference points associated with sport and physical activity are part of our shared heritage. Without being taught the language of sport and physical activity, pupils can miss out on an enriching aspect of our communal life. Kretchmar, when discussing the importance of physical activity and play, states that participation makes 'our lives go better, not just longer'. [footnote 2] High-quality PE therefore is a physical and cultural entitlement.

This review explores the literature relating to the field of PE. Its purpose is to identify factors that can contribute to high-quality school PE curriculum, assessment, pedagogy and systems. We will use this understanding of subject quality to examine how PE is taught in England's schools. We will then publish a subject report to share what we have learned.

The purpose of this research review and the intended audience is outlined more fully in the 'Principles behind Ofsted's research reviews and subject reports'. [footnote 3]

Since there are a variety of ways that schools can construct and teach a high-quality PE curriculum, it is important to recognise that there is no single way of achieving high-quality PE.

In this review, we have:

- outlined the national context in relation to PE
- summarised our review of research into factors that can affect quality of education in the subject
- considered curriculum progression, pedagogy and assessment in PE and the impact of school leaders' decisions on provision

The review draws on a range of sources, including our 'Education inspection framework: overview of research' and our 3 phases of curriculum research. [footnote 4]

We hope that through this work, we will contribute to raising the quality of PE for all young people.

# **Context**

This section outlines some of the context of PE, including falling numbers at GCSE level and reduced curriculum time. This is important to frame the pivotal role that a high-quality PE curriculum can play in reducing the gaps that continue to exist between children from different backgrounds.

## The position of PE

PE is a national curriculum subject that is compulsory at key stages 1 to 4. It has its roots in physical development in Reception, where it is one of the prime areas of development. Regardless of whether PE is deemed a core or foundation subject, the PE curriculum will benefit from a clear and coherent sense of what it means to 'get better' at the subject.

The national curriculum identifies the aims of the subject and, broadly, the subject content to be taught at each key stage. The flexibility that this broad outline enables in PE can be

counterproductive if the subject expertise to meet these broad and ambitious goals is absent.

The national curriculum for PE aims to ensure that all pupils:

- develop competence to excel in a broad range of physical activities
- are physically active for sustained periods of time
- engage in competitive sports and activities
- lead healthy, active lives

Academies and free schools that do not teach the national curriculum are required to provide a broad and balanced curriculum that 'promotes the spiritual, moral, cultural, mental and physical development of pupils'. [footnote 5]

This review explores the curriculum that is necessary to achieve the broad aims for PE as set out in the national curriculum. It is not designed to encompass additional goals of PE that transcend the national curriculum. It has been long agreed that PE can do many things, including develop pupils both socially and emotionally. [footnote 6] Although these broader holistic developments are desirable, they are not solely the responsibility of PE.

Under the education inspection framework (EIF), there are 4 key judgements that link to an overall judgement of effectiveness: quality of education; personal development; behaviour and attitudes; and leadership and management.

PE can make valuable contributions to pupils' personal development. This judgement considers how the curriculum can extend beyond the academic, technical or vocational. In a PE context, this can include how schools are developing pupils' understanding of how to keep physically healthy, eat healthily and maintain an active lifestyle, including giving ample opportunities for pupils to be active during the school day and through extra-curricular activities. [footnote 7]

The quality of education judgement is about the academic substance of what is taught, and what pupils learn and know in each subject. Our curriculum research review series looks at the factors that can affect quality of education in different subjects. Therefore, this review is primarily concerned with the school PE curriculum considered through the lens of the quality of education judgement.

#### What is PE?

Despite the national curriculum aims, the purpose of PE is still highly contested: it means different things to different people. [footnote 8] In the past, PE has been described as a chameleon 'that changes its colours' based on the differing priorities of different stakeholders. [footnote 9]

The terms PE, sport and physical activity, although closely related, are not synonymous. They do not share the same purpose or goals. [footnote 10] In addition, other terminology used to denote PE-related thinking can contribute to even more 'muddled thinking' within the sector and with wider stakeholders regarding what PE is and what it can do for pupils. [footnote 11] For example, the widely used term 'physical literacy' can be framed differently depending on underpinning ideologies. [footnote 12] This can lead to differences in how the term is interpreted and manifested within the curriculum. [footnote 13]

The body of knowledge that informs PE draws on a range of disciplines, including physiology, psychology and sociology, each with their own methods of knowledge production. For example, knowledge of how breathing rates increase during exercise has been established through scientific enquiry, whereas strategies to outwit an opponent in rugby have their disciplinary roots in elite sport. To be physically educated is to competently and confidently apply the important contributions that each field makes to your own participation in sport and physical activity. This requires careful prioritisation of the knowledge that will enable pupils to know more and do more in PE.

Extra-curricular provision and sport that occur within school can and should complement and enrich the PE curriculum for all. In this way, there is a symbiotic relationship between timetabled lessons and extra-curricular participation. However, extra-curricular activities cannot replace the careful selection and sequencing of content that is required to physically educate all pupils so that they know more and can do more.

#### Reductions in time allocated to PE

The Association for PE, in its 2015 report, recommended allocating 2 hours per week to PE. [footnote 14] Our research in 2018 found that 69% of schools visited had 2 or more hours of PE in the timetable each week but also found that, in some cases, precious time was being lost in getting changed and setting up. [footnote 15] The time allocated and the time spent learning therefore are 2 separate factors that affect pupils' PE experience. Powell and others report an average of 35.3 minutes spent in a PE lesson within the 'working area' (for example, a school hall, field or swimming pool). This shows that a considerable number of minutes each lesson are being lost to non-physical activity. [footnote 16]

More specifically, at a secondary level, further factors reduce time allocated to PE. The Youth Sport Trust reported that in key stage 3 pupils receive an average of 124 minutes of curriculum PE each week, reducing to an average of 98 minutes in key stage 4. [footnote 17] The same survey reported reductions in curriculum time for PE by 20% for key stage 3 and 38% for key stage 4 between 2013 and 2018. Over a third of participants from the report claimed that the reductions were due to core subjects being given additional time and the exam pressures of Progress 8 and the EBacc. This

suggests that PE exists within a framework of competing pressures that can restrict the time needed to develop competence.

## Who takes PE qualifications?

Recent data shows that although the number of sports-related vocational qualifications at key stage 4 has increased by 62% from 2018 to 2021, the number of GCSE entries has reduced by 17% over the same period. [footnote 18]

There are many reasons why the change in qualification choices might be occurring. The decrease in GCSE entries might be due to the increased academic rigour in the specification content, the increased emphasis on written examinations and the reduced percentage of the overall grade derived from the practical element of the course. [footnote 19]

Although the gender composition of both BTEC and A-level entries has remained stable since 2018, the BTEC qualification entries are still predominantly male at 75%. This is compared with a more even gender split for A-level entries at 56% male in 2020. [footnote 20]

## The importance of PE in reducing inequalities

PE is far wider than physical activity alone, but it does play an important role in promoting and sustaining physical activity. Decisions that pupils make about physical activity can be affected by how much family support they have, their families' economic status and the perceptions they have built based on socialisation into play and sport from an early age. [footnote 21] Some pupils might therefore cumulatively benefit from positive physical activity and sport-related interactions outside of PE alongside their experiences within a school's PE curriculum. For others, however, PE is their only opportunity to take part in physical activity and develop movement-related competence.

Some groups of pupils, including those from ethnic minority backgrounds and those with special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND), report lower levels of physical activity. [footnote 22] Therefore, timetabled PE lessons might be the only opportunity that some pupils have to learn the knowledge they need to make informed decisions about their own participation in physical activity. Although it cannot create and sustain an active society alone, an ambitious PE curriculum can ensure that all pupils have a chance to benefit from physical activity and sport, despite the subtle advantages that only some pupils get beyond the school gates. [footnote 23] Through the careful selection and sequencing of curriculum content that develops pupils' competence, more pupils can believe that PE is for them and inequalities can be reduced.

The important role of PE to close gaps becomes more apparent when exploring the divides within particular sports and physical activities. For example, Sport England found that 44% of children from lower socio-economic backgrounds reported that they could swim 25 metres, compared with 85% of children from more affluent families. [footnote 24] Similarly, it was estimated that around half of children from ethnic minority backgrounds in England were able to swim 25 metres, in comparison with two thirds of White British children. Swimming and water safety are part of the PE national curriculum in primary schools, and schools must report on the number of pupils meeting the national curriculum expectations. The current statistics may suggest that the provision of the swimming and water safety components of the national curriculum are not yet good enough. Since swimming and water-based recreation remain popular activities among younger people and swimming is an important survival skill, it is crucial that all pupils intentionally and incrementally develop their water competence within the PE curriculum. [footnote 25] This example shows that the PE taught curriculum can play a vital role in broadening access to important knowledge and skills for all pupils.

## The curriculum

This section explores the curriculum necessary to meet the breadth and ambition of the national curriculum. The PE curriculum that each school adopts should set out what it means to 'get better' at the subject. The 3 pillars of progression outlined within this section (motor competence; rules, strategies and tactics; and healthy participation) provide a useful basis to navigate the national curriculum aims. This section also pays close attention to content selection, sequencing and teaching for memory.

The sport- and physical activity-specific examples in the following sections are designed to illuminate the points being made. They have been selected based on what most readers might recognise. There are other sports and physical activities that could have been included that would support the same points and that can provide opportunities for all pupils to know more and do more in PE.

## The importance of competence

Competence is a key feature within the first national curriculum aim. It could be argued that this underpins the successful achievement of the other aims, too. [footnote 26] White defines competence as: 'the capacity of a pupil to interact with a given environment as a result of prolonged learning, to thrive in their phase at school'. [footnote 27] Using this helpful definition, it is not the expectation that PE is a preparation path for elite athletes: PE alone does not have the time, resources or intent to

do this. But PE can provide knowledge through instruction, practise and feedback for pupils to flourish within their phase and prepare them for the next stages of learning.

In PE, developing competence is important because of its relationship with motivation. [footnote 28]

There is evidence showing that when pupils move through a well-sequenced curriculum their self-efficacy increases because of increased knowledge and competence. [footnote 29] The relationship between competence and confidence could be described as mutually reinforcing: low competence within a sport or physical activity can be associated with low confidence and a reduction in the likelihood of participation. [footnote 30] Additionally, recent research has emphasised the important role that actual competence plays more broadly. It has found a positive relationship between average to high levels of actual motor competence, perceived motor competence and organised sport participation and a healthy weight, as well as higher levels of autonomous motivation in 9- to 13-year-olds. [footnote 31] But competence as a concept is complex and can easily mask what it is that pupils need to know, do and remember to be competent.

In this review, we suggest 3 conceptually distinctive but functionally connected pillars of progression that develop competence to participate, that PE can be realistically accountable for to meet the aims of the national curriculum. These are:

- motor competence knowledge of the range of movements that become increasingly sport- and physical activity-specific
- rules, strategies and tactics knowledge of the conventions of participation in different sports and physical activities
- healthy participation knowledge of safe and effective participation

# The curriculum: progression in PE

## The first PE pillar of progression: motor competence

Motor competence can be described as a person's ability to execute a variety of motor actions, including the coordination of fine and gross motor skills. These are necessary to participate in activities in everyday life, including play and physical activity. [footnote 32]

It is not difficult to see the important role that efficient and effective movement patterns within a physical activity context play in the success and enjoyment of physical activity and sport. [footnote 33] There is no other curriculum subject that develops the broad range of gross motor skills that PE can

and should.

For some pupils, PE will be their first and only experience of being taught how to produce confident and controlled motor movement. For others, it should give them the instruction, practise and feedback required to take their knowledge and understanding beyond what they bring from their home environment. To improve motor competence, pupils require sufficient and well-designed opportunities. Some opportunities will be provided beyond timetabled PE lessons, including during breaktime and lunchtime, but they should first and foremost be present in the PE curriculum. [footnote 34] PE in this way, for all pupils, plays an important role in securing efficient and effective movement.

In recent years, it has been reported in international studies that motor skills in children and adolescents are declining. [footnote 35] Furthermore, pupils from areas of higher deprivation have less-developed movement skills than their peers from more affluent areas. [footnote 36] This is concerning because without secure foundations of motor competence, pupils' current and future involvement in physical activity and sport can be hindered. [footnote 37] For example, a pupil who cannot jump safely and effectively is not ready for more complex activities that require that movement, for example gymnastics and athletics. This can negatively affect pupils' motivation and confidence and therefore reduce the quality and quantity of physical activity they access and engage in beyond timetabled PE lessons. [footnote 38] Carefully planning how motor competence will be developed is an important focus of the PE curriculum because a confident and competent mover is more likely to be an active mover. [footnote 39] A child with lower levels of motor competence may be less inclined to participate in physical activity or sport. [footnote 40] Schools are well placed to provide the high-quality instruction, practise and feedback that enable all pupils to develop their quality of movement to participate confidently and competently in a broad range of physical activities. [footnote 41]

#### **Fundamental movement skills**

To have the best chances of establishing and maintaining physically active lives both across a broad range of activities and in the long term, it is important that pupils develop secure foundations for movement. To do this, they need to develop adequate levels of fundamental movement skills (FMS) in the early years. [footnote 42]

FMS can be defined as a set of basic, learned motor patterns that do not occur naturally. [footnote 43] The typical progression from inefficient to more proficient and mature patterns of movement requires high-quality instruction, practise and feedback. FMS can be subdivided into 3 sets of skills that have commonly identified constituent aspects of effective preparation, execution and recovery: [footnote 44]

- locomotor skills, for example running and jumping
- stability skills, for example twisting and balancing

manipulation skills, such as throwing and catching

Pickup and Price state that 'initial skill-learning should focus on bilateral actions – walking, running and hopping – before more complex actions such as skipping and galloping are introduced'. 

This progression from simple to complex movement patterns, once the former has been secured, is essential in reducing the likelihood of gaps and misconceptions in pupils' knowledge acquisition and application. In both structured and less-structured learning, carefully designed practices and feedback can improve pupils' early competence. For example, a teacher may correct a pupil so that they land softly on the balls of their feet when skipping. This is important to enable the pupil to skip with increased efficiency, not just to make skipping more enjoyable but also as an important precursor to learning how to change direction quickly in games such as netball and rugby.

Although motor development is age-related and not age-dependent, it can be argued that FMS are best developed between 3 and 8 years old. Therefore, developing careful progression through Reception and primary school is vitally important. [footnote 46] Once secure, FMS form the building blocks for more complex movement skills, which will be heavily relied on for successful participation in a variety of physical activities. [footnote 47] However, Duncan and others found that pupils aged between 6 and 9 years old in England are not competent in basic FMS. Less than a quarter of pupils in their sample had achieved mastery in the run, jump, throw or catch skills. [footnote 48] Similarly, Lawson and others found that when exploring a wider range of FMS, including the hop, skip and stability skills, fewer than 40% of pupils aged between 7 and 10 in England achieved mastery in each skill, and 27% had not achieved mastery in any of the skills. [footnote 49]

Interestingly, comparisons with other countries give us further insight and possibly indicate lower quality of instruction and fewer opportunities for formal and informal practice in England. [footnote 50] A study highlighted significant differences between 9- to 10-year-old English and Chinese children. Thirty-seven per cent of English boys and 23% of English girls had achieved mastery/near mastery for the run. In the Chinese cohort, 83% of boys and 87% of girls had achieved mastery/near mastery. Fewer differences were noted for jumping but similar significant differences were seen in throwing, again with fewer English children achieving mastery/near mastery. The PE curriculum must address these disparities by providing adequate emphasis on developing, refining and practising FMS in increasingly complex situations.

Research has repeatedly highlighted that sex influences FMS competency despite little apparent biological difference between boys and girls in the early years. [footnote 51] Studies have repeatedly found that girls show lower object-control skill competence than boys. [footnote 52] This may reflect the types of activities that boys and girls engage in during free play. Bardid and others suggest that boys might participate in more ball sports (object-control related activities) and girls might participate in more locomotor-related activities such as dance and gymnastics. [footnote 53] Beyond primary school, an Irish study by O'Brien and others found significant differences between boys and girls possessing advanced skill proficiency across a range of basic FMS at age 12 to 13. [footnote 54] Sport England has also highlighted differences in activity levels outside school, which might mean

that boys are benefiting from more opportunities to practise particular FMS. [footnote 55] Timetabled lessons must therefore provide all pupils with the high-quality, appropriate instruction and planned activities required to develop their FMS.

It is vital to acknowledge the importance of actual competence as opposed to perceived competence within these studies. Although perceived competence can play an important role in motivation, younger children can have unrealistic perceptions of their movement competence. 

[footnote 56] It therefore becomes imperative that young children have opportunities to systematically develop their competence across the range of FMS, within different contexts from the prime area of physical development through the early stages of the PE national curriculum in primary school.

Bolger and others also discuss the importance of practice time and feedback to build and refine coordinated and controlled movement patterns before increasing complexity. [footnote 57] Children should have the time they need to practise simple to increasingly complex movement patterns through both intentional structured and unstructured approaches to develop, consolidate and deepen their knowledge, understanding and skills. [footnote 58]

Being offered only unstructured opportunities to learn, practise and refine important FMS in primary school will not guarantee that all children will discover or intuit the important components of competent participation in physical activity. [footnote 59] Some pupils with limited knowledge may inadvertently narrow their own curriculum by choosing to only participate in certain unstructured activities. They may also miss important opportunities to progress if they are not supported and encouraged to benefit from further instruction, practise and feedback to develop, refine, review or embed their knowledge that are available to them during unstructured times.

It requires subject expertise to identify those pupils who require additional time to practise and specific instructional activities to develop their movement efficiency. Morgan and others reinforce the importance of teacher expertise. [footnote 60] However, international studies still highlight primary school teachers' lack of competence and confidence in teaching FMS. [footnote 61] It is important that teachers know the common misconceptions that occur and the instructional practices needed to develop competence of all pupils but especially at younger ages, as they begin to form their own views on what they feel they are 'good' at and where they can succeed. Furthermore, without security in these building blocks of movement it is difficult to ascertain how pupils can be expected to be full and enthusiastic participants in PE and show interest and take part in physical activity beyond timetabled lessons. [footnote 62]

Within and beyond timetabled instruction, practise and feedback, the availability of equipment to develop these skills plays an important role. [footnote 63] Throwing and catching projectiles of different shapes and sizes will enable pupils to develop important understandings that relate to flight and distance control and how they adapt their body position for accuracy and power.

#### Beyond fundamental movement skills

Although competence in FMS might not determine success in later sport or physical activity, their acquisition is an important precondition. Longitudinal data-tracking of pupils' FMS competence through childhood into adolescence suggests that FMS are an important predictor of adolescent physical activity. [footnote 64]

Clark and Metcalfe have a useful metaphor of 'mountain peaks' to describe the importance of FMS. [footnote 65] Proficiency in FMS acts as a strong platform to navigate different 'mountain peaks' (sports and physical activities) and provide the knowledge for pupils to confidently and competently explore a greater range of them. This might include some of the most popular lifelong physical activities globally, such as walking, cycling, running, swimming, yoga and resistance training, or a broader scope across a range of different sports and physical activities. [footnote 66]

Seefeldt considered there to be a 'proficiency gap' where FMS had not been secured, which restricts pupils from accessing more specialised movement patterns. [footnote 67] This suggests that if pupils progress through the primary curriculum without a strong foundation of FMS, they will struggle with the increasingly specialised skills being presented in a range of more specific activity contexts. All pupils, therefore, need time to practise and refine these movement patterns, both in isolation and through 'transitional activities' that challenge them to extend their knowledge. [footnote 68] For example, pupils in key stage 1 participating in an attacking and defending activity can practise varying their speed of running, stopping and turning. These activities provide the opportunity to work towards increased efficiency and effectiveness of movement within different parameters. They also enable pupils to link increasingly complex movements together, before moving on to more context-specific practice in key stage 2. [footnote 69] However, pupils can be at an early stage of movement at any age and might require more instruction, practise and feedback to secure the important initial building blocks at other stages of schooling too. O'Brien and others found that large numbers of secondary school pupils do not display proficiency across the FMS. [footnote 70]

## The second PE pillar of progression: rules, strategies and tactics

Movement execution is a vital part of successful participation in sport and physical activity. However, it is not enough to be competent alone. For example, a pass in football can be powerful and direct but if the pass is to the wrong person then it is ineffective. Intelligent movement requires pupils to move in accordance with the demands of the context, which is informed by their knowledge of the relevant conventions and conditions of the activity. As novices, pupils need to be explicitly taught the knowledge that informs and successfully directs their movement: that is, knowledge of rules, strategies and tactics.

Grehaigne and others regarded tactics during a game as decisions about how to move, when to

move and where to move. The specificity of tactics and time dependency means that tactical learning cannot easily be separated from motor competence, since a tactic is only successful if the participant can execute the movements involved. [footnote 71] This shows the important interconnection of the pillars of progression in PE. They are not disconnected lists of facts but closely aligned conventions linked to movements within specific activities that help develop pupils' competence to participate.

Tactics are commonly associated with game-based activities, such as basketball, handball and tennis. There are shared tactics between similar types of games, for example attack and defence within invasion games. Defence, in this case, can be further broken down into defending the goal or defending space. [footnote 72] The tactical problems are shared even though many of the actions required to demonstrate the tactic in different sports and physical activities are different.

Not all activities will have their own rules or tactics: these facets are more closely associated with sports, despite rules broadly covering more basic conventions. For example, a hop being on one foot could be described as a rule of hopping. But all physical activities and sports will have strategies for success, even those that are less formal. A strategy is less time-dependent and has a broader relevance beyond game-based activities. [footnote 73] For example, during orienteering, pupils need to know the strategies required to complete the course in the quickest times. Similarly, dance includes knowledge of timing and space; these could be considered the strategies that make a dance successful because of their importance in conveying the story intended.

## The third PE pillar of progression: healthy participation

The fourth national curriculum aim refers to pupils leading healthy, active lives. Several large-scale interventions have demonstrated the role that PE can play in providing knowledge relevant to healthy participation within different domains. [footnote 74] Within specific activities, PE can play an active role in challenging misconceptions and restricted understandings of how to participate in sport and physical activity that might have been established outside of school, such as children being taught to swim breaststroke with their head always above the water. Similarly, PE can challenge inaccurate knowledge that might be unsafe or cause injury, for example improving long-distance running without understanding the importance of training intensity and duration and rest periods.

Generic ideas about health that are disconnected from a context can be quite meaningless to pupils, for example the idea that walking 10,000 steps a day is good for you. Many young people 'know' the relationship between exercise and health because it is frequently promoted within public health discourse. But public health messages are often understood differently by different people depending on their prior knowledge and experiences. [footnote 75] PE plays a vital role in connecting important ideas about health to physical activity. It ensures that pupils explicitly learn, for example,

the ways in which you prepare for safe and effective participation in different activities or the different fitness demands. Disconnected facts and ideas can make it difficult for pupils to make important informed decisions about their own healthy participation. The crucial and strategic connection between physical activities and/or sports and health, which is relevant to learning knowledge within this pillar, is paramount.

Similar to the pillars of motor competence and rules, strategies and tactics, there are important concepts (for example, 'aerobic' and 'anaerobic') that are useful for pupils to develop an understanding of how to enhance their current and later healthy participation. However, a study by Deng and others found that a large number of pupils either had not heard of the concepts aerobic and anaerobic or had misconceptions about them that prevented them explaining the concepts in relation to different activities. [footnote 76] This is important because Zhang and others suggest that by strategically developing pupils' knowledge of, for example, important facts about the human body and physical activities and how to perform appropriate activities for health benefits, pupils' interest can increase. [footnote 77]

This increasingly detailed knowledge of the broader physiological, psychological and socio-cultural aspects of the physical activity and sport that pupils are participating in within PE lessons is also important to support and encourage their healthy, active lives beyond PE lessons. This requires pupils to be taught knowledge that allows them to proactively analyse the influences on their own health-related behaviours and link these to the physical activities and sports taught within the curriculum. For example, pupils not only need to know the short- and long-term benefits of doing gymnastics but also where there are local opportunities to be physically active and participate. [footnote 78] When pupils more readily understand their context and have the knowledge to strengthen and amplify their own health resources, they can exercise more power to make informed decisions about their present and future participation. [footnote 79]

## **Vocabulary in PE**

PE is a vocabulary-rich subject. Besides the specific terminology, including for example muscle names or names of specific movements, there are some informal terms used that effectively 'chunk' together multiple and complex instructions or feedback. For example, when playing football, the word 'line' is often used to instruct someone to continue using the width of the playing area and pass the ball down the sideline to a teammate. Pupils will only know the meaning of terms like this and be able to attempt to respond as intended if they have been taught the specific language of the activity or sport. A lack of shared understanding can be a barrier to participation, and pupils can feel excluded from certain activities and sports if they do not know the terminology. This exclusion extends beyond physical participation, hindering pupils' ability to discuss and debate sport and physical activity.

Furthermore, using the precise names of rules, strategies and tactics, for example, is important to enhance intelligent movement. Lemov suggests that a clear and shared understanding of vocabulary and phrasing within a domain, for example 'touch-tight defending' and 'playing between the lines', improves pupils' observational awareness. [footnote 80] Carefully planning when pupils will first encounter and re-encounter key vocabulary and when and how complexity increases are important in developing pupils' knowledge and access to particular physical activities and sports.

Beck and others have a useful framework for categorising vocabulary and ensuring that it is explicitly considered in curriculum planning. For example, the term 'possession' could be considered a tier 2 word (infrequent in speech but frequent in writing) in other curriculum subjects but in PE it could be a tier 3 word (subject-specific terminology) because it has a particular technical meaning in PE. It is important that PE leaders and staff carefully consider the most appropriate vocabulary and definitions to use when teaching and where and when pupils will be taught these to develop a shared common language. It is important to check pupils' understanding of key terminology used within lessons and ensure that all pupils are taught precise meaning within context.

# The curriculum: types of knowledge in PE – declarative and procedural

It is useful to look at knowledge in PE through the lens of declarative (knowing what) and procedural (knowing how) knowledge. [footnote 82] As part of physically educating pupils, both forms of knowledge have value as 'two sides of a coin': linked and yet important in their own right. [footnote 83]

Declarative knowledge in PE is the factual knowledge concerning movement, rules, tactics, strategies, health and participation. This knowledge is not a list of disconnected facts; it is explicitly linked to the content being taught. Declarative knowledge can be communicated through verbal or written means. Pupils could, for example, demonstrate their declarative knowledge through question-and-answer sections of a lesson, or spoken or written observations of a practical demonstration. With a more detailed declarative knowledge base, pupils can better verbalise their strengths and limitations as well as communicate their ideas, their decisions and the choices that they make during an activity or one that they observe. [footnote 84]

Declarative knowledge alone, however, is not enough to physically educate because 'one can repeat the facts yet know nothing about the subject' in the same way that – arguably – you can acquire knowledge and not know how to use it. [footnote 85] For example, the declarative knowledge of how to outwit an opponent in rugby is not the same as successfully outwitting them on the field.

Procedural knowledge can be viewed as the know-how to apply declarative facts. This might include applying the tactics to a practice situation or modified game. This knowledge in a PE setting is best put into practice through physical demonstration or physical participation. Anderson theorised that all procedural knowledge begins as declarative knowledge and therefore argues that before taking action, you must have acquired a degree of declarative knowledge. For example, someone must have knowledge of what a headstand looks like and how to retain balance, before they start to practise doing one. Similarly, Chatzipanteli and others indicated that pupils require adequate declarative knowledge to improve their procedural knowledge. [footnote 87]

Both forms of knowledge, the 'know-what' and 'know-how', are vitally important in ensuring that pupils are being physically educated. Pupils need to be explicitly taught what the links are between declarative and procedural knowledge. [footnote 88] Without the declarative knowledge of motor movement, rules, strategies and tactics, and healthy participation, it might be that pupils can perform physically but they are not able to critically engage fully in the field of sport and physical activity, which could enrich their experiences.

The careful selection and systematic teaching of both declarative and procedural knowledge together underpins what it is to be physically educated. In an American study, Zhang and others suggest that it is the lack of opportunity to systematically accumulate declarative and procedural knowledge that may contribute to the continued decline of interest in physical activity knowledge as pupils get older. [footnote 89]

## Based on the above, high-quality PE may have the following features

- Teachers know that PE includes clearly defined knowledge that can usefully be categorised into declarative and procedural knowledge. These forms of knowledge in PE are often inextricably linked.
- Teachers know that PE is not synonymous with physical activity or sport. They share similarities but also have important differences.
- Leaders and teachers have thought carefully about what it is to know more and do more in PE. This understanding is informed by the national curriculum's aims and component knowledge has been identified to develop pupils' competence.
- A strong foundation of FMS is developed, starting in the early years. It sequentially
  develops through transitional activities into more specialised sport and physical activity
  contexts. FMS are a precondition to accessing the later, more specialised movement
  patterns required for competence in sport and physical activity.
- Teachers make sure that pupils' movement is not only efficient and effective but intelligent and context-related. They make sure pupils have knowledge of rules, strategies and tactics in order to direct and guide successful movement.

Knowledge of healthy participation includes important knowledge of key concepts
pertaining to health, participation and physical activity. These are taught systematically,
honour the specific learning context and increase in complexity throughout the
curriculum.

# The curriculum: learning is domain-specific

Skill development is context-dependent in that 'the interactive components within a learning situation all play an important role'. 

[footnote 90] For example, when learning to throw a ball, the shape and size of the ball and whether the ball is being thrown for accuracy or for distance will directly influence how the throwing action is taught. It is difficult for pupils to apply their prior knowledge to a newer context when the physical space differs, for example between different sports or physical activities with different parameters and goals. 

[footnote 91] This is especially difficult for younger children. 

[footnote 92] It is therefore beneficial to spend time practising and rehearsing the knowledge, for example a throwing-and-catching action, in one domain. Moving pupils too quickly into new contexts can reduce their fluency as they attempt to meet the new contextual demands without adequately having secured the steps required to demonstrate success in one context.

The importance of context transcends motor competence. For pupils to display successful teamwork in an activity, for example an invasion game, specific component knowledge is necessary. This might include the rules of the game and the tactics that might need to be employed to be successful. Without this important contextual knowledge, the likelihood of demonstrating teamwork is reduced because it is highly influenced by the specific context and having the prerequisite motor competence to demonstrate it. The component knowledge of composite concepts therefore needs to be identified and taught to all pupils.

This is similar to the capacity to problem-solve, which also relies on domain-specific knowledge and expertise. [footnote 93] This means that pupils who lack familiarity with a new learning context, for example volleyball, will struggle to transfer their problem-solving approaches neatly and automatically from other areas where they do have a deep domain-specific knowledge, for example climbing. This is despite the commonly held belief that there are certain mental processes that determine 'being good at critical thinking'. [footnote 94] It is therefore beneficial to teach the component knowledge that underpins composite skills like problem-solving and teamwork in each context specifically rather than attempting to teach generic approaches.

# The curriculum: selecting content to teach

All pupils should follow a curriculum that is at least similar in breadth and ambition to the national curriculum. Decisions about which sports or physical activities to teach can be carefully made based on how they develop and refine the pillars of progression that can support meeting the needs of the national curriculum.

The knowledge taught in PE will serve to shape and inform pupils' decisions about their own participation. It is important to ask: if PE was not a curriculum subject, what might pupils not have the opportunity to learn that is important for them to develop healthy, active lives? In carefully considering an answer to this question, it is clear that not everything can be taught and that not every sport or physical activity is of equal value.

Fordham makes a useful distinction between knowledge that is deemed 'individually necessary' and that which is believed to be 'collectively sufficient'. [footnote 95] In PE, swimming and water safety are individually necessary as per the national curriculum. FMS are another example of essential content as they are an important prerequisite for learning more complex movement patterns.

Beyond what is deemed individually necessary, not every sport or physical activity can or should be taught. Neither can all relevant and appropriate content that relates to informing pupils' decisions about healthy, active lives be taught. The PE curriculum must comprise, collectively, enough declarative and procedural knowledge to amount to a high standard of PE at primary and secondary level. In selecting the ambitious and increasingly complex curriculum content for a collectively sufficient PE experience, the 3 pillars are a useful filter for choosing appropriate activities. This means selecting sports and physical activities that develop a range of motor competencies, a range of rules, strategies and tactics that are important for pupils to understand and a range of knowledge to enable healthy participation.

Our research in 2018 found that many schools could tell us in detail about the activities they did, and topics they covered, but they were unclear about their curriculum intent, implementation and impact. [footnote 96] Content should be selected based on its role in meeting the broad and ambitious goals of the curriculum. For example, including athletics in a curriculum plan can not only develop pupils' FMS into more complex sport-specific movements but can also teach pupils how the body responds to different forms of exercise and how it recovers depending on the duration and intensity of exercise. Athletics, therefore, can be selected for the intrinsic worth of learning how to participate in a range of track and field events but also for its contribution to developing the declarative and procedural knowledge pupils need to make informed choices about their own healthy, active lives. Similarly, dance might be selected because of the development of movement competencies it involves, as well as it giving pupils access to different kinds of cultural heritage. [footnote 97]

The curriculum aims cannot be met by games alone, nor can they be met by competitive activities alone. Our research in 2018 also found that football was the activity most present in a PE

curriculum: 81% of schools were teaching football. [footnote 98] Further analysis found that 7 of the 10 most popular activities could be classed as 'competitive' and 5 of those included a ball. The domination of team sports within a curriculum can reduce opportunities for positive learning experiences for pupils with SEND. [footnote 99] Content selection requires careful thought to ensure that all pupils can access the breadth of experience required to develop the competency to meet the national curriculum aims.

# The curriculum: learning takes time

Curriculums with short blocks of learning across multiple activities can be described as being 'a mile wide and an inch thick'. [footnote 100] This approach can mean that the curriculum lacks the depth of learning required for pupils to achieve any level of success in a particular activity before moving on to the next. This is particularly concerning when considering the role that competence can play in motivation and engagement. [footnote 101] A focus on fewer sports or physical activities, taught in more depth, can enable more pupils to develop the competency required within the national curriculum.

Squeezing an activity or sport's curriculum time in order to fit in a larger variety of different activities across the year can lead to key knowledge being forgotten and pupils developing gaps in their knowledge. This can make it difficult for them to engage in more complex content later on, especially if this content is foundational to future learning. In some cases, the development of advanced coordination patterns will be the result of many hours of practise spaced across terms or years. [footnote 102] Some knowledge, therefore, will require more time to teach, including structured revisiting and additional complexity taught across particular years. The important questions to consider are: how well is the time that is provided in the curriculum to teach PE being divided and used? Is enough time being provided to practise and develop competence?

# The curriculum: content sequencing

Meaningful learning occurs when pupils are enabled to make sense of their learning and organise it coherently within what they already know. [footnote 103] It is therefore important that the curriculum sequence maximises the likelihood that all pupils will be able to connect the steps they have taken to know and do more in PE. Deng and others highlight that connection is more likely when pupils have secured important prerequisite knowledge before moving on to more complex knowledge. [footnote 104] This might include revisiting, refining and building on key fundamental movement skills before introducing additional complexity.

Content can be sequenced based on how progression of knowledge builds over time, from simple to complex and through different sports and physical activities. For example, throwing and catching are important aspects of motor competence and attack and defence are important features of rules, strategies and tactics that can be developed through different sports and physical activities.

Curriculum progression does not always occur in PE through domain-specific complexity. It also occurs through selecting different activities that require pupils to recall prior knowledge and seek similarities and contrasts between the different contexts. For example, pupils can be taught the importance of maintaining possession of the ball as an important strategy for success in an invasion game. If the sport or physical activity to teach this content was football, then pupils would also learn the importance of dribbling and passing and the important parts of the body to pass and receive the ball. Although hockey involves different movements and rules and different strategies and tactics, pupils' knowledge of the importance of maintaining possession that they learned in football can be developed and extended. [footnote 105]

Similarly, pupils can be taught the similarities and contrasts between principles of training to improve their participation in different sports and physical activities. For example, pupils might learn about the importance of muscular endurance, specifically for dance, but they could develop a broader understanding of muscular endurance through another activity, such as swimming. They could also be taught other desirable fitness components within each activity to provide a richer concept of what fitness means generally and what it looks like across a range of activities and sports. Through careful positioning of clear and specific examples, pupils can develop their understanding and make the correct connections to their prior knowledge.

Vocabulary can also be revisited in different contexts. For example, pupils might be taught what the word 'streamlined' means, what it looks like in swimming and its importance. Pupils could reencounter the word 'streamlined' when taught about the most efficient approach to sprinting in athletics. Intentionally retrieving prior knowledge can prime the pupil for the new learning and make it more likely that they will remember the newer knowledge because of its connection to what they already know. The sequence therefore of what is taught, and when and why, is important in identifying explicitly when key specific vocabulary is encountered, revisited, developed and refined within the taught curriculum to ensure that all pupils develop the knowledge they need to participate in sport and physical activity.

# The curriculum: extra-curricular activities

A systematic approach to planning and delivering extra-curricular opportunities should enable pupils to participate beyond their PE lessons, giving them more time to practise, extend and refine their knowledge. [footnote 106] It can also celebrate a variety of different activities, some of which

might not be included in the school PE curriculum. There should therefore be equal opportunities for all to participate.

Extra-curricular provision is not restricted to clubs or activities before or after school hours. It also includes opportunities for pupils to participate in physical activity and sport during breaks and lunchtimes. Graham and others found that the environmental characteristics of a playground at primary level, for example equipment available, organised activities and high-quality adult supervision, can increase pupils' activity levels and influence more participation than areas that are not supervised or organised. 

[footnote 107]

Take-up of extra-curricular provision can provide a useful indicator of the value of physical activity, PE and sport within the school. Providing all pupils with access to a range of extra-curricular opportunities that punctuate the school day, week and year, in conjunction with a carefully selected and sequenced PE curriculum, can put PE, school sport and physical activity at the heart of the school community.

# **Further SEND-specific curriculum thinking**

Each section of this PE research review is relevant to all pupils within a mainstream setting. This section, however, provides further research that is specifically focused on pupils with SEND.

A high-quality curriculum in PE is one that meets the needs of all pupils and teaches the knowledge required to participate in physical activity and sport. A curriculum that is ambitious for pupils with SEND will make sure that pupils with SEND have access to content that does not impose an artificial ceiling on what they can achieve.

Pupils with SEND are not a homogenous group. Providing different activities for pupils with SEND without adequate consultation and understanding of their specific needs can predetermine what each pupil can achieve. Pupils themselves can provide much-needed expertise on their own needs. Specific adaptations of content might be required but effective curriculum planning should begin with diverse access arrangements in mind, including for some pupils who might be at earlier stages of movement and/or have less secure knowledge.

Leaders and teachers should plan fully for inclusion and recognise that adaptations might be required for some pupils, rather than begin from a place of fully adapted practice, which might mean that pupils with SEND are subject to lower aspirations. Shields and Synot also highlight the importance of practice and achieving early success for some pupils with SEND and providing opportunities beyond PE lessons to develop the requisite motor and social knowledge pupils need to purposefully engage in PE with enjoyment. [footnote 108]

A study by Dixon and others concluded that pupils with SEND can still face significant exclusion from timetabled PE lessons. It found that some pupils with SEND commonly experience being put in officiating roles, 'setting up cones' and 'holding the stopwatch' within their PE lessons. [footnote 109] They are therefore missing valuable opportunities to learn important knowledge within PE that can enable them to make informed decisions about their own participation in sport and physical activity and lead healthy, active lives.

There must be a clear rationale in place for how pupils with SEND are accessing and progressing within the PE curriculum and careful monitoring of the impact of what might be in place to ensure that all pupils know more and can do more. To champion all pupils in PE, the curriculum must carefully sequence important knowledge and provide the support required to develop increased competency.

## Based on the above, high-quality PE may have the following features

- Teachers and leaders recognise that learning takes time. They make sure that pupils have enough time to revisit and develop their knowledge within a context before moving too quickly on to a new sport or physical activity.
- Leaders planning the curriculum are clear that the sport or physical activity being taught matters.
- They select physical activities and sports based on capacity to develop pupils' competence within PE. They use the 3 pillars (motor competence; rules, strategies and tactics; and healthy participation) to help identify key concepts to teach and for pupils to learn and build pupils' understanding incrementally.
- The PE curriculum meets the needs of all pupils. All pupils feel included and able to succeed within the subject.
- The extra-curricular offer is available for all pupils. It provides opportunities to build, develop and refine knowledge and in this way benefits from a symbiotic relationship with the curriculum subject PE.

# **Pedagogy**

In our overview of research underpinning the EIF, we identified teaching as the most important factor in schools' effectiveness. [footnote 110] High-quality teaching in PE enables pupils to remember the intended curriculum in the long term and develop competence. This section highlights the

importance of high-quality instruction, practise and feedback within PE teaching. For each of these integral components, we share the conditions that can prove most beneficial to enable all pupils to know more and do more in PE. This section also draws on important research regarding the positioning of competition within PE teaching and the time spent in lessons being physically active.

## Instilling a belief that all pupils can know more and do more

The 'Evidence review' study from Evidence Based Education highlights the importance of creating a supportive environment where pupils do not see their attainment as fixed. [footnote 111] In PE, it is therefore important that pupils see their attainment as incremental and not defined by sex, ethnicity or other personal characteristics. The instruction, practise and feedback that pupils receive within lesson time should enable all pupils to develop their competency, reinforcing the important message that everyone can improve. [footnote 112] This is particularly important for pupils with SEND. These pupils typically participate in less physical activity and a narrowed range of physical activities compared with their peers. [footnote 113]

Learning environments can be more positive and purposeful when all pupils are encouraged to focus on mastery of skills, self-improvement and effort. [footnote 114] Together, these factors can ensure that more pupils learn and achieve success in PE.

## **Expert teacher knowledge**

Expert PE teachers can draw on their own broad-ranging content and pedagogical content knowledge to communicate objectives clearly and organise learning that challenges all pupils to know more and do more. [footnote 115] High levels of subject expertise also enable teachers to identify and predict pupils' common misconceptions and to plan instructions, explanations and tasks to reduce the likelihood of new misconceptions developing. [footnote 116] Iserbyt and others found that teachers who improved their specialised content knowledge increased the number of correct demonstrations, descriptions and analogies/metaphors they used within their teaching. [footnote 117] These features were shown to improve pupils' outcomes, especially for pupils with less prior knowledge.

## **Explicit teaching strategies for novices**

Most pupils in a PE lesson are novices. Even those who might be considered to be high attainers in

particular sports or physical activities will rarely have the prerequisite knowledge to demonstrate high competence across the full PE curriculum. This means that pupils will require clear direction with careful step-by-step instruction, practise and feedback to develop their knowledge. Participation in physical activity alone, with limited guidance, will not enable them to develop complex skills. [footnote 118] Similarly, participation in a game cannot guarantee the level of connection pupils need to develop increasingly complex understandings. [footnote 119] Instead, direct and explicit teaching approaches, following a detailed curriculum plan, can enable pupils to demonstrate more proficient movement skills and knowledge to become increasingly competent. [footnote 120]

Robinson and others found that children who were supported by specialists to learn FMS demonstrated greater increases in their motor competence than children who engaged in free play. [footnote 121] At an early stage of movement, there is evidence to suggest that free play alone will not lead to pupils acquiring FMS at a mastery level. [footnote 122] This means they will often require structures in place to direct them to learning opportunities that encourage their motivation towards task mastery. [footnote 123] Free-play opportunities can be used to complement a structured approach to teaching motor movement. The structured approach should incorporate time for pupils to effortfully practise and refine their knowledge as well as scaffolding and questioning to ensure that their understanding is secure before moving on to more complex content. [footnote 124]

Both Dudley and Robinson and others report that well-structured explanations, models, practice time and feedback for all pupils will help to successfully develop their knowledge acquisition and application. [footnote 125] Although pupils might encounter and learn additional content on the way, they have a clear purpose for what they are learning. [footnote 126] Moving pupils too quickly into games or play situations when they have not yet secured the knowledge they need to access the game or play can be detrimental to their progress and confidence. When pupils have limited knowledge, the problem-solving requirements of an activity can contribute to cognitive overload and pupils can often concentrate, unknowingly, on irrelevant information when making decisions. [footnote 127]

As pupils' competency increases and they show that they know more and can do more, teachers' support and scaffolding can be reduced. Teachers can use approaches that encourage pupils to creatively explore problems and seek solutions. For example, they can pose a tactical dilemma and ask pupils to plan, practise and evaluate their own approaches. However, pupils need to practise and be taught domain-specific knowledge (rather than more generic cognitive strategies about, for example, how to problem-solve). They need this in order to develop higher-order processing to make more appropriate decisions and use these forms of practice to the greatest effect. [footnote 128]

## The interplay between declarative and procedural knowledge

To enable pupils to accurately connect knowledge that is declarative (know-what) and procedural (know-how), it is important that teachers highlight what pupils have been taught and the particular circumstances to which knowledge is applied. For example, this can be achieved through deconstructing demonstrations using clear and specific success criteria. When demonstrating a push pass in hockey, the teacher might highlight particular features during different repetitions of the demonstration, such as the ball starting in line with the back foot to maximise contact time and the importance of weight transfer to ensure that the ball travels accurately at speed. Here, the teacher is drawing out important and relevant declarative knowledge and explaining its importance to the procedural knowledge – the execution of a pass.

How well pupils demonstrate procedural knowledge of rules, strategies and tactics will be influenced by their motor competence. Some research has indicated that limited motor competence can hinder pupils from acquiring and applying more advanced sport- and physical activity-specific knowledge, including advanced tactics. It is important that pupils have the time to practise to increase fluency in their movement so that they can physically demonstrate how rules, strategies and tactics are enacted. Pupils are more likely to struggle if they cannot effectively execute the necessary motor movements. [footnote 130] For example, pupils might be able to clearly verbalise the importance of space in a game. But when they are attempting to show their understanding, if they do not have the motor competence to pass the ball further than a few metres they will struggle to physically demonstrate their knowledge.

#### **Powerful demonstrations**

Specifically modelling what success looks like and providing concrete examples of how knowledge is applied in context is an important part of teaching in PE. Through demonstrations, all pupils can develop a clear picture of what success looks like and focus on working towards it. [footnote 131]

For a novice, an accurate demonstration can provide clear representations of the motor pattern for pupils to imitate and compare their actions with. [footnote 132] Through the demonstration, pupils can see explicitly the skill-learning process, practising the task, making errors, receiving feedback and improving. This can mean they more readily disregard strategies that are less effective and can spend more time purposefully exploring and refining effective strategies. [footnote 133] The requirement to check pupils' understanding through effective questioning plays an important role here to check for misconceptions. Coupled with positive and encouraging use of praise, demonstrations can be an important part of strong pedagogical practice in PE.

For the novice, the process of observing and imitating a demonstration is highly complex. It requires pupils to not only have focused their attention on the most important aspects of the demonstration, but also to reconstruct the representation and make valid judgements on it. It is therefore important that teachers select a small number of the most important cues to signpost pupils' attention. This

will reduce the likelihood of overloading pupils' working memory with unnecessary, distracting information. [footnote 134] It can also be useful to use small step-by-step instructions through partial demonstrations, with adequate time to practise before more content is introduced. The pupil's subsequent efforts to replicate the movement or strategy, for example, allow the teacher to identify what the pupil knows and where there might be gaps in knowledge or misconceptions.

Demonstrations can play an important role in explicitly teaching and modelling metacognitive strategies, for example how to monitor and evaluate efforts when pupils practise independently or in groups. [footnote 135]

Pupils with more prior knowledge can benefit from observing both expert and novice performers. [footnote 136] Through observing the expert, pupils can formulate an ideal movement mental model; observing a novice can help the pupil to detect and correct errors before attempting the action themselves. However, to do this, pupils need secure prior knowledge to ensure that misconceptions from the novice demonstration can be accurately identified and the demonstration appropriately analysed.

Demonstrations play an equally important role for pupils with advanced knowledge. They allow pupils to observe and discuss the presentation of problems and generate possible solutions before engaging in practice, focusing less on imitation and more on innovation.

## The importance of practice

Metzler identified a direct relationship between the time pupils spend practising a skill and the learning that occurs. [footnote 137] Pupils described as being 'sporty' can often be those who have experienced more and/or higher-quality opportunities to practise in sport and physical activity. This can mean they have more developed and refined domain-specific mental models of how to plan, execute and evaluate participation successfully. [footnote 138]

#### Practice should be sequential

The transition from FMS to the more specialised movement patterns of different sports and activities requires instruction and guidance as well as sequentially designed practice to develop more independent and effective movement in context. [footnote 139] Pupils who might have gaps in their learning or misconceptions will need to revisit knowledge before they are introduced to additional further complexity. For example, those pupils who are struggling to perform the basic fundamental movement skills will require additional time to practise these before starting a specific sport or an activity-specific movement. Practising fundamental movement skills and linking them together with increasing competence is not only important in Reception and primary-level PE but also at secondary level too, if appropriate.

Practice episodes should be clearly structured, from simple to complex, and involve adequate time for pupils to practise precisely and with increasing independence. [footnote 140] For example, a forward roll in gymnastics might be initially completed with teacher support but, as the pupil develops competence and confidence, scaffolding to support the pupil reduces and the pupil can attempt more complex variations to entering and exiting the roll. Without practising from simple to complex and revisiting prior learning, it is more likely that memories of past performance will fade and pupils will have to relearn rather than revisit.

Not all practice is equally effective. Opportunities to be physically active in PE do not automatically mean that pupils are practising and refining the knowledge required to develop competence.

#### **Practising until learned**

The nature of repetition will look different depending on what knowledge is being practised. For example, in swimming, different strokes might be practised and different areas isolated through a series of repetitions to develop fluency in the movements involved. In other activities that require responses to be made to unpredictable external demands, for example team games, the environment is less controlled and so the structure of practice and the role of repetition are different.

Repetition will look less varied during the early stages of knowledge acquisition as pupils gain fluency. However, as competence increases, practice should incrementally increase in difficulty to support pupils becoming more strongly attuned to the unpredictable features of many different specific sports or physical activities.

It is important to not move pupils on too quickly and risk overwhelming them. To avoid this, teachers can carefully change the constraints and contexts of tasks in order to increase their difficulty based on what pupils show they know and can do. This might include making changes to the playing area, equipment, conditions of the activity or number of participants. [footnote 141] For example, teachers can vary groundstrokes in tennis from different distances, with a static target, with a moving target and then against an opponent. The action of the groundstroke is being repeated but the context is providing evolving complexity to make the practice continuously 'desirably difficult' for the pupil. [footnote 142] The specific progressions need to be carefully planned so that practice is not varied too quickly.

Teachers need to carefully monitor practice, making timely adjustments to practice situations that provide additional support or challenge where required. Younger pupils in particular will need to feel some form of mastery to stay engaged and help inform them of their progress. However, pupils who demonstrate consistent success and not constant success are ready for their practice to become more challenging and are ready to adapt their movement to the increasing demands of the context. Footnote 144]

This is not just important for games. Activities such as dance also require practice to incrementally become more challenging. Gibbs and others highlight the important stages of imitation and repetition for novices. 

[footnote 145] Without time to progressively refine knowledge, pupils will not develop the important bank of movements and ideas required to perform high-quality improvisation that is indicative of competence and confident participation. Setting a task with the expectation that pupils 'be creative' is not a good use of lesson time when the foundational knowledge that they need to exude creativity is not present. For a novice to increase their creative response to a stimulus, they need high-quality instruction, practise and feedback.

## Purposeful feedback

Pupils will benefit from clear and precise feedback that focuses on what they are doing well and how to further develop, and limits any negative comments. [footnote 146] Without a secure mental model with enough connected knowledge to action the feedback they are provided, some forms of feedback during the early stages of knowledge acquisition can be overloading and unhelpful for pupils. This includes feedback that is vaque, abstract or too broad.

Pupils with higher levels of prior knowledge can more successfully play an active role in developing their strategies for error correction. [footnote 147] It is therefore important that, as pupils' competency develops, teachers slowly reduce external instructional feedback. For example, pupils with more knowledge within the domain, instead of receiving immediate feedback, can benefit from delayed verbal feedback. The pupils can take time to make their own judgements, drawing from their advanced knowledge, which can then be discussed and corrected or developed with peers, where appropriate, or the teacher.

For pupils with more developed knowledge, too frequent and too detailed feedback can be unhelpful. [footnote 148] It can distract them from processing their own sources of feedback and developing their own broad and rich error-detection systems. [footnote 149]

A key focus of a teacher is to determine what the critical aspects to feed back to the pupil are. Avoiding 'paralysis by analysis' can mean that teachers focus on one or two items to highlight. Being clear, concise and positive can help pupils to improve quickly without fear of failure. Pupils who are clear about the learning goals and expectations can produce better outputs and are more self-regulated. [footnote 151]

## Time spent being physically active in PE lessons

The Association for PE recommends that pupils actively move for 50% to 80% of the available learning time. [footnote 152] This is as important in key stage 1 as it is in key stage 4. This can usually be achieved through effective planning and organisation of pupils and resources, and making sure that very limited time is spent waiting to participate or to share equipment.

There are some activity choices that lend themselves to higher levels of physical activity, including fitness, invasion games and track athletics. [footnote 153] However, other activities can be more physically active if practices are set up to include more pupils taking part and there is less time spent on transitioning from one activity to the next or waiting to participate.

This is not to say that time being physically active automatically equates to time being actively engaged in appropriate practice. For example, in football practice, pupils doing arm circles while waiting their turn are not receiving optimal practise time because they are not manipulating the ball or thinking about tactics. [footnote 154] Teachers must ensure that physical activity is purposeful and is focused on the intended learning.

Short periods of time not spent being physically active, for example observing a demonstration or participating in a group discussion, can be productive in a PE lesson. [footnote 155] Question and answer episodes, for example, can give the teacher an insight into what each pupil knows and thinks. They can also let pupils ask 'how and why' questions, which can help alleviate possible misconceptions. Furthermore, time spent on clear and concise explanations, analysis and questioning within a lesson will help develop pupils' comprehensive and connected mental models. It will link the declarative and procedural knowledge and will also limit time spent in practice that is not focused on the intended learning. It is therefore important that when pupils are spending short periods not being physically active, they are benefiting from an activity that supports the intended curriculum goal, for example giving structured feedback to active participants.

Hollis and others found in their study, which includes data from the UK, that pupils were involved in moderate to vigorous physical activity for, on average, 40.5% of a lesson. This suggests that, in some cases, more PE time could be dedicated to developing procedural knowledge that engages pupils in purposeful physical activity. [footnote 156]

## The right competition at the right time

It is important to carefully consider the purpose of competition within PE, and where and when competition is positioned within PE lessons. During competition, pupils draw on what they know and can remember from within a domain. In many competition formats, pupils use this information to select and respond to a variety of often unpredictable cues, all within what can be a split second.

Pickup and Price clearly explain that competition provides increased pressure and less time to

process information and make decisions about appropriate responses. Therefore, if competition is introduced too soon (before pupils have the prerequisite component knowledge and the competency needed), it can:

- be unsafe
- lack purpose: Bernstein and others found that pupils with limited knowledge did not have as many opportunities to apply skills during game-play
- contribute to pupils' low domain-specific self-efficacy, feelings of exclusion and potential task avoidance [footnote 157]

Competition is effective when strategically planned to provide varying degrees of challenge and not a one-size-fits-all approach. Shields and Funk suggest that true competition is defined as 'a process in which participants seek excellence by trying to surmount the challenge provided by an opponent'. This requires careful grouping of pupils, but additionally, the challenge provided by competition can be against oneself. Either way, the desired outcomes are about self-improvement.

The way teachers structure competition within lessons is important. [footnote 159] The focus should be on pupils' quality of knowledge application and therefore the task, rather than solely the outcome. [footnote 160]

An emphasis on competitive sport without allocating enough instructional time for pupils to develop the declarative and procedural knowledge needed to successfully participate can marginalise some pupils. This is especially the case for those who are not at a level of competence to access the competition. [footnote 161] Pupils who have limited knowledge and are not at the necessary competence level will be being challenged to do something that they cannot yet achieve. This can ultimately have a detrimental effect on both their competence and confidence. In these cases, too often, the least skilled pupils become uninterested bystanders, with little opportunity for personal improvement. [footnote 162] An important question to consider when planning for competition is: to what extent might competition be helping or hindering learning here?

Competition can play an important role in developing fair-play behaviours and teaching the more hidden aspects of sporting etiquette, including how to win and lose gracefully and how to treat others with respect. It is also important to acknowledge the role that competition plays in stimulating innovation. It adds additional challenge to practice and gives pupils opportunities to refine their knowledge of rules, strategies and tactics. But it is important to recognise that for competition to play this role, it must be accessible to all involved. 

[footnote 163]

# Further SEND-specific pedagogy thinking

Each section of this PE research review is relevant to all pupils within a mainstream setting. This section, however, provides further research that is specifically focused on pupils with SEND.

All pupils are entitled to lessons in PE that stretch and challenge them. In a study by Goodwin and Watkinson, pupils with SEND described 'good days' and 'bad days'. [footnote 164] 'Good days' were when they engaged in learning contexts that had been carefully modified to accommodate their needs and feelings of progression in skill development. On the other hand, 'bad days' were when they experienced social isolation, restricted participation and their competence being questioned.

Several studies have identified that there are gaps in teachers' subject and pedagogical content knowledge. Many PE teachers lack confidence in their knowledge to meet the needs of pupils with SEND, including how to adapt activities to ensure that all pupils participate. [footnote 165] With PE providing a different environment to the classroom, some pupils might require different forms of support from that provided in a classroom setting to access the curriculum, including working in smaller groups or there being restrictions on physical contact.

Vickerman and Maher suggest that it is important that provision is made for those with SEND to be included alongside their peers. [footnote 166] Where curriculum adaptations are not required and the needs of all pupils can be met through the taught curriculum, the pedagogical approaches selected will play an important role in ensuring that all pupils can access and achieve well in PE. Any modifications required, including adaptations to rules of an activity or modifications to equipment, must maintain educational integrity. For example, in a games activity, a pupil with SEND might benefit from a larger, lighter or different coloured ball to help them complete an accurate movement. Teachers may also need to make some adaptations to rules, such as allowing a pupil with movement restrictions 5 seconds to receive and play the ball. [footnote 167] Equally, 'a pupil who requires a wheelchair for mobility can use the chair as an extension of their body' to make use of the space and explore different directions and speeds to demonstrate their procedural knowledge in dance. [footnote 168]

Some pupils with SEND might experience delayed motor development or more difficulty when demonstrating FMS. It is important to provide additional practise time and support through frequent and carefully structured tasks and, where required, make sure that these pupils receive support from appropriately trained learning support assistants.

Teachers can make appropriate adaptations and modifications to the pedagogical approaches selected in discussion with individual pupils, as appropriate. They can arrange support in line with any individual education plans. This might include specific support or adaptations to manage the modes of communication in a PE lesson, for example making sure that a pupil with SEND can preview lesson instructions or key vocabulary ahead of the lesson, if needed. This can give them valuable extra time to clarify what the vocabulary means and to practise linking the vocabulary to other key terms they have already learned.

Within PE lesson time, some pupils with SEND share experiences of being unable to join in with certain activities, not having the equipment to participate fully and, at times, missing PE to attend scheduled therapies. [footnote 169] This suggests that there is more to do to ensure that PE is consistently accessible for all and that all pupils can make progress.

## Based on the above, high-quality PE may have the following features:

- The pedagogical approaches selected reflect the needs of pupils and the needs of the curriculum content.
- All pupils are supported to know more and do more. All pupils benefit from high-quality instruction, practise and feedback.
- Teaching activities and approaches make sure pupils revisit and re-encounter important knowledge.
- Practice is domain-specific, desirably difficult and goal directed, with the aim of all pupils improving. It gives pupils time to build, develop and refine their knowledge.
- Feedback for pupils focuses on how to improve.
- Pupils have high-quality opportunities to learn component knowledge. Teachers move onto more complex content once pupils have secured important foundational knowledge.
- Competition is appropriately positioned when pupils have the knowledge needed to access the demands of the competition. This is regardless of whether the competition is against oneself or others.
- Pedagogical adaptations for pupils with SEND to access and achieve success are specific to the needs of the pupil and retain educational integrity to meet the aims of the national curriculum.

# **Assessment**

This section emphasises the importance of teachers having 'assessment literacy' (defined below) and the role that careful selection of assessment approaches, and inferences made from assessment, plays in PE. Assessment in PE should be tightly focused on what pupils can do and how they can improve. This section also discusses some of the challenges teachers face when selecting approaches and using assessment information to ensure that pupils know more, do more and remember more.

## The importance of assessment literacy

Teachers in PE should use a variety of types of assessment that enable all pupils to demonstrate 'what they know, understand and can do'. [footnote 170] If not carefully considered, the approaches selected can play a role in creating and reaffirming inequities and reducing pupils' motivation and self-efficacy. [footnote 171] It is equally important to clearly communicate to pupils and other key stakeholders how pupils' strengths and areas for development will be monitored and assessed to ensure that what is valued and needed to increase competence is assessed appropriately.

To make decisions about which assessment practices are most effective, teachers need to have expertise in assessment principles, assessment approaches and how to interpret assessment data to optimise subsequent classroom teaching. [footnote 172] Stiggins refers to this as 'teacher assessment literacy'. [footnote 173]

Teachers should carefully consider the possible positive, negative, intended and unintended consequences of an assessment task and its outcomes. [footnote 174] Without this critically reflective approach to assessment, the commitment to 'PE for all' is unachievable. Assessment approaches for pupils with SEND might need adapting to ensure that all pupils have the opportunity to show what they know and can do and that areas of development can be appropriately identified and feedback given to improve. Similar to any curriculum or pedagogical adaptation, these must not place a ceiling on what pupils with SEND can achieve. Additionally, any adaptations should retain educational integrity.

## Assessment should remain focused on identifying progress in competence

Well-designed assessment enables teachers to gather evidence to plan subsequent teaching that helps pupils to know and do more. Decisions about what and how to assess should be based on value and importance. [footnote 175] If made appropriately, these decisions can play a positive role in challenging misconceptions about the purpose of PE and clarify to stakeholders what constitutes 'learning' in PE.

Hay and Penney's research implies that assessment must remain focused on what PE can realistically be held accountable for developing. This can include, for example, the quality of movement execution and the application of knowledge to participate effectively and efficiently in sports and physical activities.

Formative assessment encompasses 'all those activities undertaken by teachers and/or by their

students which provide information to be used as feedback to modify the teaching and learning activities in which they are engaged'. [footnote 176] Assessment in this way is not a standalone event – it is ongoing. Pupils should be given frequent opportunities to evidence their understanding. [footnote 177] Assessment, therefore, forms an integral part of regular and systematic teaching and learning practice. [footnote 178]

The specific content and what teachers are expecting pupils to know and show as a result of teaching should dictate the assessment approaches that they choose. This success criteria should be shared with pupils. [footnote 179] For example, teachers might assess important trampolining knowledge through a series of multiple-choice questions. Although not physical, this approach to check pupils' understanding gives teachers a rich insight into what each pupil thinks and how their knowledge is organised. It also allows pupils to receive immediate feedback through dialogue with the teacher, which reduces the likelihood that misconceptions will become embedded. [footnote 180]

The physical domain ultimately sits at the heart of what it is to be physically educated. Consequently, much of the knowledge pupils acquire can be demonstrated through physical means, for example playing badminton to show knowledge of how and when different strokes are performed. Formative assessment can be used to identify any underlying misconceptions before pupils move on to learning more complex content.

As a result of assessment, pupils must know specifically what they are doing well and how they can further develop their competence. For example, are they using the correct terminology to describe a warm-up in dance and demonstrating it accurately? If not, then what do they need to do to demonstrate success? This explicit identification will support pupils to organise the knowledge learned and form accurate mental representations of success within each context. It is also important that pupils have adequate time between any assessment to learn and practise the specific components and act on advice or guidance given to improve their competence.

### Considerate use of competition to assess

A competitive situation allows pupils to bring their knowledge of a particular domain together. However, competitions (whether against themselves or others) are not the most appropriate method teachers can use to isolate the smaller building blocks that might need to be retaught, revisited or refined.

The information the competition yields can be too broad to meaningfully improve pupils' subsequent efforts. It is more appropriate, for the purposes of informing the next steps in teaching, to check precisely what a pupil knows and can do through carefully designed activities that more finely isolate the components of knowledge required. [footnote 181]

Competitions also do not always give pupils the opportunity to show what they know and can do in terms of the range of component elements. This is because the focus of competitions is on outcomes and the outcomes do not always reflect what learning has occurred. [footnote 182] For

example, during a basketball game, what a pupil does is informed by the unpredictability of the game. This can mean that if competition is the only form of assessment being used, pupils can be limited by the opportunities that were presented within the game. For some pupils, that might have been a very small sample of the domain.

In some cases, however, competitions can be a useful way of assessing pupils' application of tactics, for example their knowledge of the roles that different positions have in a team activity. When appropriately placed, competitions can also be a useful way of cumulatively assessing pupils' knowledge by incorporating knowledge from previous topics, some of which might supersede knowledge taught earlier. For example, during a cricket match the bowler will choose how to perform the bowl based on the perceived weaknesses of the batter. Their choice might be one they had learned previously, which would provide evidence of knowledge retention.

## Assessment challenges in PE

A study by Borghouts and others found large disparities between what teachers were reporting as their goals of PE and their assessment practices. [footnote 183] Other studies have also found a disconnect between the methods of assessment being used and the knowledge pupils are expected to know and apply. [footnote 184] Assessment should be closely aligned to specific contexts in order to produce information that can appropriately inform the next steps of teaching.

Assessment that is based on generic skill progression, for example teamwork or resilience, does not adequately give pupils the component knowledge they need to know more and do more. Pupils are likely to be given vague feedback that does not isolate the clear and domain-specific knowledge needed to improve. Furthermore, assessing beyond pupils' competence in PE can lead to teachers distorting their curriculum in unhelpful ways to try to prepare pupils for assessment.

#### **Performance versus learning**

It is important that teachers recognise that observations of physical performance are not always indicative of the underlying quality of learning. [footnote 185] For example, the objective measurements of distance thrown in javelin can fluctuate as pupils learn more complex techniques. Until the new movement patterns have been practised and refined, a pupil can feel like they have regressed and may not have a clear understanding of what their assessment information is showing. Incorporating other forms of assessment to complement observations can provide more reliable data to inform pupils' perceptions of what they are doing well and what they need to do to improve.

Moreover, what is observed in practice does not always translate into long-term memory. For example, demonstration of the conventions of a short corner in hockey during a lesson shows that content has been covered but this does not necessarily mean it will be remembered. Especially if

the knowledge is not carefully connected to prior learning. This means that opportunities to recall and review important knowledge need to be carefully planned to ensure that pupils remember it.

#### Maturation can impact motor-competency outcomes

Some pupils will have different physical advantages in different activities, for example a tall pupil might find increased success when defending in netball. Equally, a taller pupil might jump higher in high jump in athletics. This can have implications for how assessment data is interpreted. It is important that assessment approaches, where appropriate, consider these advantages. Objective measures or outcomes alone can mask a multitude of misconceptions, for example poor replication of movement. Teachers should ensure that their approaches to assessment and the inferences they make from the information they gather focus on what pupils have been taught and find out what pupils need to do to be better.

Rates of maturation have also been shown to influence pupil assessment outcomes in PE. A study by Aune and others found that pupils born in the first half of the year recorded higher levels of achievement in PE compared with those born in the second half. [footnote 186] This phenomenon has also been observed in the selection of teams for some sports. [footnote 187] This further emphasises the need to select assessment approaches that accurately reflect what it is to get better in PE regardless of maturation. For example, teachers may introduce a long jump competition that records the distance a pupil has jumped relative to their height as well as the absolute distance.

### Self- and peer-assessment needs to be taught

There is a place in PE for self- and peer-assessment. Pupils can learn by observing and analysing. 

[footnote 188] However, for pupils to play an effective role in peer- and self-assessment, teachers should share the learning intentions clearly and make sure pupils have an accurate mental model of what success looks like within the specific task or context.

This is especially important where some terminology might be quite abstract. For example, to peer-assess a dance performance where pupils might be asked to comment on the actions they observe within the dance, pupils need to have a mental picture of what it might look like to drift or to tangle, to rise or to melt, so that they can recognise it and comment on it.

Pupils also need to be taught how to assess, to have clear guidelines on what is being assessed and to know how to give feedback. For example, pupils will often require clear and explicit success criteria to refer to. This can ensure that feedback comments are helpful and play a role in improving the quality of efforts.

#### Using technology to support assessment

There is evidence that technology, including video to analyse movement, can be valuable to support assessment in PE. [footnote 189] Pupils who have limited knowledge of accurate movement

patterns can benefit from watching replays and slow-motion techniques to identify successes and improvements. [footnote 190] However, what pupils see and the inferences they make will be framed by their prior knowledge and experience. For video analysis to be purposeful, pupils will need a clear mental picture of what success looks like so that they can make sense of what they are watching. The immediacy with which this can happen can also reduce the likelihood that misconceptions become embedded and detrimentally impact their future efforts.

When technology is used well, it can increase teachers' and pupils' knowledge of successes, reduce misconceptions and clearly 'show' how to improve. However, it is important that any technology used in PE to assess is user-friendly, does not burden teachers with unnecessary complexity and does not detract from instructional time. [footnote 191]

Any use of technology should support assessing what is valued and not valuing what can be assessed. [footnote 192] Where the use of technology creeps into monitoring and tracking, it can affect well-being. Teachers should think critically about the potential risks and benefits of any technology use to support accurate and reliable assessment. [footnote 193]

## Based on the above, high-quality PE may have the following features:

- Teachers select the most appropriate assessment approaches to give all pupils opportunities to show what they know, can do and understand.
- Formative assessment is ongoing and provides information that teachers use to inform subsequent teaching.
- Assessment approaches should identify the component knowledge pupils have acquired and have not yet acquired.
- Pupils have a comprehensive understanding of what it is to know more and do more in PE. This is not narrowed to only value performance in specific sports or physical activities.
- The inferences made from assessment data collected are carefully considered alongside other forms of assessment data to provide an accurate picture of what each pupil can do and what they need to do to improve.
- Pupils are explicitly taught how to self- and peer-assess, using clear and precise success criteria to give accurate and meaningful interpretations.
- Teachers using technology to support assessment carefully weigh up the strengths and limitations and the role it plays in providing accurate assessment information that directly relates to improving competence in PE.

# Subject and whole-school policies

High-quality PE depends on effective subject and school leadership. This section shares the research relating to PE subject leadership and continuous professional development (CPD). It draws on important features of the primary school sector, including PE and sport premium funding and the increased outsourcing of PE.

### Subject leadership

Effective leadership creates the conditions under which teachers can be successful. It is useful to consider Silva and others' '3 waves of teacher leadership' to navigate the duties carried out by PE leaders, which vary widely in each context: [footnote 194]

- The first wave involves mainly organisational tasks that focus on the operational aspects of schooling.
- The second wave involves using the instructional expertise of teachers.
- The third wave involves developing a culture of collaboration and CPD that places teacher development at the heart of improving pupils' attainment.

It is important that subject leaders are given the time required to actively engage in important subject matters, namely curriculum design, monitoring and staff training and support. It is through effective subject leadership that an ambitious curriculum is brought to life.

# Primary school PE: increased outsourcing

Historically, PE has typically not been taught by subject specialists in primary schools. Following the introduction of the primary PE and sport premium in 2013, however, there has been an increase in the number of schools with a specialist PE teacher: from 30% before the premium to 46% in 2014/15. More recently, Jones and Green suggest that primary PE is typically taught by one or a combination of 3 different groups: generalist teachers, specialist primary PE teachers and sports coaches. [footnote 196]

With the growth of outsourcing in PE, teachers in primary schools are no longer the sole providers of the subject. [footnote 197] In some schools, outsourcing provision has become an appealing solution to deal with teachers' lack of subject knowledge and/or confidence. [footnote 198] There is

some evidence to suggest that external providers in PE provide higher-quality planning, instruction and management of activities, and that they better develop pupils' motor skills compared with generalist teachers. [footnote 199]

Specialists can play an important role in the long-term development of primary PE, through increasing generalist class teachers' subject knowledge and understanding of pupils' technical movement. [footnote 200] They can also extend opportunities to be physically active and develop competency beyond timetabled PE. However, having a specialist does not guarantee a high-quality PE programme. [footnote 201]

The research on using external providers does not always make clear what is meant by 'expert' or 'expertise'. [footnote 202] Expertise can be very specific, and a lack of wider curricular expertise to align what is taught with a high-quality progression model can limit pupils' progression. Further research implies that pupils' PE experience can be reduced to sport and moves away from the aims of PE. [footnote 203] Schools must explicitly avoid narrowing the curriculum in this way, including not having PE dictated by intra- or inter-school competitions. [footnote 204]

It is equally important that any commercially bought programmes are critically reviewed by subject leaders within school to ensure the high-quality instruction, practise and feedback required to develop competence. Furthermore, the consistent quality of implementation must be monitored to secure positive outcomes for all pupils.

Overall, very little is currently known about the impact of outsourcing on pupils' understanding of PE. [footnote 205] It might be that at present the role of external providers is best placed in extending and supplementing, rather than replacing or substituting, internal provision. [footnote 206]

The school must retain robust monitoring of the intended and enacted curriculum. Outsourcing might risk PE becoming disconnected from the wider culture and context of the school if its planning and implementation is left solely to external providers. [footnote 207] If these external providers are leading certain PE lessons, leaders must expect teachers and learning assistants to do more than observe. [footnote 208] If teachers are to benefit from the external provider, they need to be actively involved in providing instruction, supporting practice and feeding back to pupils. Likewise, trainee teachers of PE on a school placement need to be able to develop their knowledge and understanding beyond observed practice alone. A study by Randall and Griggs found that nearly 50% of pre-service primary school teachers had no opportunity to teach PE, largely due to curriculum outsourcing. [footnote 209] Trainee teachers need to be given opportunities to develop and apply their knowledge of planning and delivering inclusive lessons. [footnote 210] A further study highlighted that some trainee primary school teachers had no opportunity to teach PE because planning, preparation and assessment (PPA) time was timetabled during PE lessons. [footnote 211] Without these important opportunities, their own gaps in knowledge and misunderstandings can be left unchallenged and negatively impact the high-quality PE that all pupils are entitled to.

The Department for Education explains how schools should use the primary PE and sport premium

funding 'to make additional and sustainable improvements to the quality of PE and sport [they] offer'. A recent survey reported that almost 90% of respondents felt that the confidence, knowledge and/or skills that staff had in teaching PE had increased a little or a lot as a result of the funding. [footnote 212] However, our 2018 report found that some schools were using the funding in ways that did not follow the guidance, such as to fund planning, preparation and assessment cover. [footnote 213] These schools therefore miss important opportunities to develop teachers' skills and confidence in teaching PE. [footnote 214]

The funding has been in place now for over 8 years and it is still unclear what precise and sustained positive effect it is having on teachers' expertise and pupils' outcomes in PE. The EIF allows inspectors to focus on the impact the funding has on leaders' and teachers' expertise and wider developmental opportunities within the school.

#### **Effective CPD**

For CPD to improve teachers' effectiveness in PE, it is important that leaders at different levels within the school recognise their role in fostering positive relationships and engagement with professional learning opportunities. 

[footnote 215] Leaders with a sufficiently developed understanding of the PE curriculum can support curricular decision-making and ensure that CPD is carefully embedded within the subject to allow teachers to develop, discuss and debate the content of the subject and how to teach it.

CPD should not be a bolt-on activity. It should be ongoing and sustained. [footnote 216] It should bridge research and practice and specifically relate to the career point and experience of a teacher. In order to do this, CPD should be planned with clear and specific goals and should identify the types of evidence that best demonstrate achievement of those goals. [footnote 217]

Despite the launch of the PE and sport premium in 2013, research has noted that even if a primary school teacher views themselves as confident in teaching PE, often they are only confident teaching a small selection of activities. [footnote 218] Our research from 2018 found that teachers' confidence improved as a result of specialist training in particular physical activities, for example gymnastics and dance. [footnote 219] Notably, training and support that focuses on teachers accurately identifying pupils' strengths and areas for development within a context and having the knowledge of appropriate and progressive instructional tasks and practices can improve pupils' outcomes. [footnote 220]

Decisions about what teachers' CPD needs are should be informed by careful auditing because teachers themselves can be uncertain about their competence within an activity and their ability to teach it. [footnote 221] This has been highlighted in research on health-related knowledge, which found that staff were less likely to engage with CPD related to health and lifelong physical activity when

they exhibited misguided high confidence. [footnote 222]

#### Types of effective CPD and key focuses

CPD programmes that include delivering and developing content and pedagogical knowledge through information sessions and in-class mentoring can be more effective for generalist primary school teachers of PE. [footnote 223] Other studies have highlighted the value that PE teachers place on regular learning in informal networks or communities, which could also be particularly beneficial for small schools. [footnote 224]

To develop a curriculum with appropriate scope, coherence and sequencing, teachers need high levels of subject knowledge. In particular for PE, this includes a detailed knowledge and understanding of the potential impact of motor and coordination difficulties on classroom behaviour and performance. [footnote 225] Eddy and others found that approximately a quarter of primary school teachers surveyed indicated low or no perceived knowledge of FMS. [footnote 226] Further research has identified that teachers need more training to teach object-control FMS. [footnote 227] This knowledge is equally important for secondary school teachers, who might need to make adaptations for pupils who demonstrate misconceptions or gaps in knowledge.

Effective cross-school support can also include sharing the knowledge of experienced teachers of PE in special schools with PE teachers in mainstream settings. [footnote 228] Additionally, cross-phase and cross-school CPD between primary and secondary school teachers could also be mutually beneficial in supporting ambitious and inclusive curriculums.

# Further SEND-specific subject policy thinking

Each section of this PE research review is relevant to all pupils within a mainstream setting. This section, however, provides further research that is specifically focused on pupils with SEND.

Despite policy developments related to SEND provision, some research suggests that little has changed in teachers' confidence to specifically include pupils with SEND in PE, while other research suggests that some changes for the better are taking place. [footnote 229] Dixon and others suggest that schools still need more effective mentoring of staff, including support staff whose roles include working with pupils with SEND in a PE context. [footnote 230] This could include translating individual education plans into PE settings effectively and subject support for special educational needs coordinators who take part in forming and implementing an inclusive PE curriculum. [footnote 231]

### Based on the above, high-quality PE may have the following features:

- Teachers of PE have high levels of subject knowledge and pedagogical knowledge.
- Teachers of PE and relevant support staff benefit from subject-specific specialist training.
- Any external specialist support is well aligned with the curriculum vision of the school, as part of a carefully sequenced curriculum that enables pupils to cumulatively know and do more.
- School leaders have responsibility for the PE curriculum in place at their school.
- Teachers are actively engaged in what has been taught before and what will be taught
  after their age group of teaching. They use this knowledge to inform their selection of
  content, sequencing and ambitious end points for all pupils.
- Teachers are highly trained in meeting the needs of all pupils, including pupils with specific SEND within a mainstream setting.

## Conclusion

If PE is to truly physically educate all pupils, the curriculum must take pupils beyond their own experiences. It should develop their knowledge of motor competence, rules, strategies and tactics, and healthy participation in order to meet the aims of the national curriculum. Pupils who lack this knowledge, and lack structure to their knowledge, are denied the opportunity to develop competency and to flourish in and beyond PE lessons.

Pupils are best able to learn more and do more in PE when they have access to high-quality instruction, practise and feedback. Practice time needs to sufficiently support developing competence; it needs to be challenging and it needs to provide the opportunity to revisit, refine and develop knowledge. To do this, teachers need to carefully consider the number of sports and physical activities that pupils are taught. They should focus on balancing breadth with depth so that pupils become more competent and confident and so that the curriculum does not become 'a mile wide and an inch thick'. Assessment needs to explicitly check pupils' understanding of the component knowledge needed to develop competence and, where appropriate, adapt subsequent teaching to reduce the likelihood of gaps in knowledge developing or misconceptions becoming embedded. Furthermore, teaching approaches need to carefully align both to the needs of the pupils and the needs of the curriculum.

Without the important building blocks of efficient, intelligent and healthy participation, pupils can be limited in the choices they have to engage in the world of sport and physical activity. PE is not for

some; it is for everyone.

PE is not without its complexities within each school. Schools that have a culture of championing PE (and the complementary role of the wider extra-curricular offer) can help all pupils to be their best, and can even rewrite pupils' futures in terms of their lifelong engagement with, and enjoyment of, sport and physical activity.

- <u>'National curriculum in England: PE programmes of study'</u>, Department for Education, September 2013.<u>←</u>
- 2. RS Kretchmar, 'Ten more reasons for quality physical education', in 'Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance', Volume 77, 2006, pages 6 to 9. €
- 3. 'Principles behind Ofsted's research reviews and subject reports', Ofsted, March 2021. €
- 4. <u>'Education inspection framework: overview of research'</u>, Ofsted, January 2019; <u>'Commentary on curriculum research phase 3'</u>, Ofsted, December 2018. <u>←</u>
- Section 78 of the Education Act 2002 applies to all maintained schools. Academies are also required to offer a broad and balanced curriculum in accordance with section 1 of the Academies Act 2010.
- 6. R Bailey, 'Physical education and sport in schools: a review of benefits and outcomes', in 'Journal of School Health', Volume 76, 2006, pages 397 to 401. €
- 7. 'Education inspection framework', Ofsted, May 2019. €
- 8. M Whitehead, 'What is the education in physical education?', in 'Debates in physical education', edited by R Blair and S Capel, Routledge, 2020, pages 87 to 102. €
- 9. TL McKenzie, 'Back to the future: health-related physical education', in 'Physical education for the 21st century', edited by P Ward and P Doutis, 2001, pages 113 to 131. €
- 10. W Morgan, 'Philosophy and physical education', in 'The handbook of physical education', edited by D Kirk, D Macdonald and M O'Sullivan, 2006, pages 97 to 108. €
- 11. K Petrie, C Pope and D Powell, 'Grappling with complex ideas: physical education, physical literacy, physical activity, sport and play in one professional learning initiative', in 'The Curriculum Journal', Volume 32, 2021, pages 103 to 117. €
- 12. L Young, J O'Connor and L Alfrey, 'Mapping the physical literacy controversy: an analysis of key actors within scholarly literature', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', 2021. €
- 13. M Bowler, A Newton, S Keyworth and J McKeown, 'Secondary school physical education', in 'Debates in physical education', edited by S Capel and R Blair, 2020, pages 170 to 189. €
- 14. 'Association for Physical Education "Health Position Paper", in 'Physical Education Matters', Volume 10, 2015, pages 87 to 90. €

- 15. 'Obesity, healthy eating and physical activity in primary schools', Ofsted, July 2018. €
- 16. E Powell, L Woodfield, A Nevill, A Powell and T Myers, "We have to wait in a queue for our turn quite a bit": examining children's physical activity during primary physical education lessons', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 25, 2019, pages 929 to 948. €
- 17. <u>'PE provision in secondary schools 2018: survey research report'</u>, Youth Sport Trust, February 2018. *←*
- 18. <u>'KS4 subject timeseries data'</u>, Department for Education, 2021; <u>'KS4 subject pupil level data'</u>, Department for Education, 2021; <u>'Subject tables'</u>, Department for Education, January 2019. <u>←</u>
- 19. M Maguire, S Gewirtz, E Towers and E Neumann, 'Policy, contextual matters and unintended outcomes: the English Baccalaureate (EBacc) and its impact on physical education in English secondary schools', in 'Sport, Education and Society', Volume 24, 2019, pages 558 to 569. *≥*
- 20. 'Which A-Level subjects have the best (and worst) gender balance?', FFT Education Datalab, September 2021; 'Which BTEC subjects have the best (and worst) gender balance?', FFT Education Datalab, September 2021. €
- 21. PA Vertinsky, 'Reclaiming space, revisioning the body: the quest for gender-sensitive physical education', in 'Quest', Volume 44, 1992, pages 373 to 396. *≥*
- 22. A Dobell, A Pringle, MA Faghy and CMP Roscoe, 'Educators perspectives on the value of physical education, physical activity and fundamental movement skills for early years foundation stage children in England', in 'Children', Volume 8, 2021. €
- 23. K Fox, A Cooper and J McKenna, 'The school and promotion of children's health-enhancing physical activity: perspectives from the United Kingdom', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 23, 2004, pages 338 to 358. *€*
- 24. <u>'Active lives children and young people survey academic year 2018/19'</u>, Sport England, December 2019.
- 25. E D'Hondt, L Buelens, L Barnett, K Howells, A Saakslahti, AM Costa, B Jidovtseff, L Mertens and K De Martelaer, 'Differences between young children's actual, self-perceived and parent-perceived aquatic skills', in 'Perceptual and motor skills', Volume 128, 2021, pages 1905 to 1931; RM Hulteen, JJ Smith, PJ Morgan, LM Barnett, PC Hallal, K Colyvas and DR Lubans, 'Global participation in sport and leisure-time physical activities: a systematic review and meta-analysis', in 'Preventive Medicine', Volume 95, 2017, pages 14 to 25.€
- 26. <u>'National curriculum in England: physical education programmes of study'</u>, Department for Education, September 2013. <u>←</u>
- 27. RW White, 'Motivation reconsidered: the concept of competence', in 'Psychological Review', Volume 66, 1959, pages 297 to 333. €
- 28. RM Ryan and EL Deci, 'Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a self-determination theory perspective: definitions, theory, practices, and future directions', in 'Contemporary Educational

- Psychology', Volume 61, 2020; J Bureau, J Howard, J Chong and F Guay, 'Pathways to student motivation: a meta-analysis of antecedents of autonomous and controlled motivations', in 'Review of Educational Research', Volume 92, Issue 1, 2022, pages 46 to 72.€
- 29. DF Shell, C Colvin and RH Bruning, 'Self-efficacy, attributions and outcome expectancy mechanisms in reading and writing achievement: grade-level and achievement-level differences', in 'Journal of Educational Psychology', Volume 21, 1995, pages 624 to 632.
- 30. N Ntoumanis, 'A self-determination approach to the understanding of motivation in physical education', in 'The British Journal of Educational Psychology', Volume 71, 2001, pages 225 to 242; 'Moving more, ageing well', UK Active, November 2017; 'Active lives children and young people survey academic year 2018/19', Sport England, December 2019. €
- 31. E Coppens, A De Meester, FJA Deconinck, K De Martelaer, L Haerens, F Bardid, M Lenoir and E D'Hondt, 'Differences in weight status and autonomous motivation towards sports among children with various profiles of motor competence and organized sports participation', in 'Children', Volume 8, Issue 2, 2021.
- 32. AW Burton and RW Rodgerson, 'New perspectives on the assessment of movement skills and motor abilities', in 'Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly', Volume 18, 2001, pages 347 to 365; SE Henderson, DA Sugden and AL Barnett, 'Movement assessment battery for children', Pearson, 2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007. 

  2007.
- 33. M Huhtiniemi, A Sääkslahti, A Watt and T Jaakkola, 'Associations among Basic Psychological Needs, Motivation and Enjoyment within Finnish Physical Education Students', in 'Journal of Sports Science and Medicine', Volume 18, 2019, pages 239 to 247. €
- 34. AM Adank, DHH Van Kann, T Remmers, SPJ Kremers and SB Vos, 'Longitudinal perspectives on children's physical activity patterns: do physical education-related factors matter?', in 'Journal of Physical Activity and Health', Volume 18, 2021, pages 1199 to 1206. €
- 35. F Bardid, JR Rudd, M Lenoir, R Polman and LM Barnett, 'Cross-cultural comparison of motor competence in children from Australia and Belgium', in 'Frontiers in Psychology', Volume 6, 2015, page 964. *€*
- 36. J Rudd, L O'Callaghan and J Williams, 'Physical education pedagogies built upon theories of movement learning: how can environmental constraints be manipulated to improve children's executive function and self-regulation skills?', in 'International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health', Volume 16, 2019, pages 1 to 8.€
- 37. J Fransen, D Deprez, J Pion, IB Tallir, E D'Hondt, R Vaeyens and RM Philippaerts, 'Changes in physical fitness and sports participation among children with different levels of motor competence: a 2-year longitudinal study', in 'Pediatr Exerc Sci', Volume 26, 2014, pages 11 to 21.€
- 38. H Williams, K Pfeiffer, J O'Neill, M Dowda, K McIver, W Brown and R Pate, 'Motor skill performance and physical activity in preschool children', in 'Obesity', Volume 16, 2008, pages

- 1421 to 1426; AM Adank, DHH Van Kann, T Remmers, SPJ Kremers and SB Vos, 'Longitudinal perspectives on children's physical activity patterns: do physical education-related factors matter?', in 'Journal of Physical Activity and Health', Volume 18, 2021, pages 1199 to 1206. *←*
- 39. JE Clark, 'From the beginning: a developmental perspective on movement and mobility', in 'Quest', Volume 57, 2005, pages 37 to 45. €
- 40. R Washburn and A Kolen, 'Children's self-perceived and actual motor competence in relation to their peers', in 'Children', Volume 5, 2018, page 72.€
- 41. D Knudson, 'Fundamentals of biomechanics: second edition', Springer, 2007; PD Loprinzi, RE Davis, Y-C Fu, 'Early motor skill competence as a mediator of child and adult physical activity', in 'Preventative medicine reports', Volume 2, 2015, pages 833 to 838. ↩
- 42. D Kirk, 'Physical education, youth sport and lifelong participation: the importance of early learning experiences', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 11, 2005, pages 239 to 255.€
- 43. LM Barnett, D Stodden, KE Cohen, JJ Smith, DR Lubans, M Lenoir, S livonen, AD Miller, A Laukkanen, D Dudley, N Lander, H Brown and P Morgan, 'Fundamental movement skills: an important focus', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 35, 2016, pages 219 to 225.€
- 44. D Gallahue and F Donnelly-Cleland, 'Developmental physical education for all children: fourth edition', Human Kinetics, 2003.€
- 45. I Pickup and L Price, 'Teaching physical education in the primary school: a developmental approach', Continuum, 2008. €
- 46. DL Gallahue, JC Ozmun and JD Goodway, 'Understanding motor development: infants, children, adolescents, adults', McGraw-Hill, 2012; JE Clark, 'From the beginning: a developmental perspective on movement and mobility', in 'Quest', Volume 57, 2005, pages 37 to 45. €
- 47. DF Stodden, JD Goodway, SJ Langendorfer, MA Roberton, ME Rudisill, C Garcia and LE Garcia, 'A developmental perspective on the role of motor skill competence in physical activity: an emergent relationship', in 'Quest', Volume 60, 2008, pages 290 to 306. *全*
- 48. MJ Duncan, CM Roscoe, M Noon, CC Clark, W O'Brien and EL Eyre, 'Run, jump, throw and catch: how proficient are children attending English schools at the fundamental motor skills identified as key within the school curriculum?', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 26, 2019, pages 814 to 826. €
- 49. C Lawson, ELJ Eyre, J Tallis and MJ Duncan, 'Fundamental movement skill proficiency among British primary school children: analysis at a behavioral component level', in 'Perceptual and Motor Skills', Volume 128, 2021, pages 625 to 648. €
- 50. J Ma, M Duncan, ST Chen, E Eyre and Y Cai, 'Cross-cultural comparison of fundamental movement skills in 9- to 10-year-old children from England and China', in 'European Physical

Education Review', 2021, pages 1 to 15.

- 51. S Logan, E Webster, N Getchell, K Pfeiffer and L Robinson, 'Relationship between fundamental motor skill competence and physical activity during childhood and adolescence: a systematic review', in 'Kinesiology Review', Volume 4, 2015, pages 416 to 426; A Dobell, A Pringle, MA Faghy and CMP Roscoe, 'Fundamental movement skills and accelerometer-measured physical activity levels during early childhood: a systematic review', in 'Children', Volume 7, 2020, page 224.
- 52. LM Barnett, D Stodden, KE Cohen, JJ Smith, DR Lubans, M Lenoir, S livonen, AD Miller, A Laukkanen, D Dudley, N Lander, H Brown and P Morgan, 'Fundamental movement skills: an important focus', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 35, 2016, pages 219 to 225; ES Bryant, MJ Duncan and SL Birch, 'Fundamental movement skills and weight status in British primary school children', in 'European Journal Sport Science', Volume 14, 2014, pages 730 to 736; C Lawson, ELJ Eyre, J Tallis and MJ Duncan, 'Fundamental movement skill proficiency among British primary school children: analysis at a behavioral component level', in 'Perceptual and motor skills', Volume 128, 2021, pages 625 to 648. €
- 53. F Bardid, F Huyben, M Lenoir, J Seghers, K De Martelaer, JD Goodway and FJA Deconinck, 'Assessing fundamental motor skills in Belgian children aged 3–8 years highlights differences to US reference sample', in 'Acta Paediatrica', Volume 105, 2016, pages 281 to 290. €
- 54. W O'Brien, S Belton and J Issartel, 'Fundamental movement skill proficiency amongst adolescent youth', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 21, 2016, pages 557 to 571.€
- 55. 'Active lives children and young people survey academic year 2018/19', Sport England, December 2019; J Ma, M Duncan, ST Chen, E Eyre and Y Cai, 'Cross-cultural comparison of fundamental movement skills in 9- to 10-year-old children from England and China', in 'European Physical Education Review', 2021, pages 1 to 15.€
- 56. DF Stodden, JD Goodway, SJ Langendorfer, MA Roberton, ME Rudisill, C Garcia and LE Garcia, 'A developmental perspective on the role of motor skill competence in physical activity: an emergent relationship', in 'Quest', Volume 60, 2008, pages 290 to 306. €
- 57. LE Bolger, LA Bolger, C O' Neill, E Coughlan, W O'Brien, S Lacey and C Burns, 'Age and sex differences in fundamental movement skills among a cohort of Irish school children', in 'Journal of Motor Learning and Development', Volume 6, 2018, pages 81 to 100; T Zhang, A Chen, S Yli-Piipari, J Loflin, S Wells, R Schweighhardt, K Moennich, D Hong and CD Ennis, 'Prior knowledge determines interest in learning in physical education: a structural growth model perspective', in 'Learning and Individual Differences', Volume 51, 2016, pages 132 to 140. €
- 58. 'Education inspection framework', Ofsted, May 2019. €
- 59. E Cope and C Cushion, 'A move towards reconceptualising direct instruction in sport coaching pedagogy', in 'Impact: Journal of the Chartered College of Teaching', Issue 10, 2020, pages 70 to 73.↩

- 60. PJ Morgan, LM Barnett, DP Cliff, AD Okely, HA Scott, KE Cohen and DR Lubans, 'Fundamental movement skill interventions in youth: a systematic review and meta-analysis', in 'Pediatrics', Volume 132, 2013, pages 1361 to 1383. €
- 61. N Lander, PJ Morgan, J Salmon and LM Barnett, 'Teachers perceptions of a fundamental movement skill (FMS) assessment battery in a school setting', in 'Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science', Volume 20, 2016, pages 50 to 62. €
- 62. Q He, JYY Ng, J Cairney, C Bedard and ASC Ha, 'Association between physical activity and fundamental movement skills in preschool-aged children: does perceived movement skill competence mediate this relationship?', in 'International Journal Environmental Research and Public Health', Volume 18, 2021, page 1289. €
- 63. E Tsuda, JD Goodway, R Famelia and A Brian, 'Relationship between fundamental motor skill competence, perceived physical competence and free-play physical activity in children', in 'Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport', Volume 91, 2020, pages 55 to 63. €
- 64. LM Barnett, E van Beurden, PJ Morgan, LO Brooks and JR Beard, 'Childhood motor skill proficiency as a predictor of adolescent physical activity', in 'Journal of Adolescent Health', Volume 44, 2009, pages 252 to 259. €
- 65. JE Clark and JS Metcalfe, 'The mountain of motor development: a metaphor', in 'Motor Development: Research and Review' edited by JE Clark and JH Humphrey, NASPE Publications, 2002, pages 163 to 187. €
- 66. RM Hulteen, JJ Smith, PJ Morgan, LM Barnett, PC Hallal, K Colyvas and DR Lubans, 'Global participation in sport and leisure-time physical activities: a systematic review and meta-analysis', in 'Preventive Medicine', Volume 95, 2017, pages 14 to 25.€
- 67. V Seefeldt, 'Developmental motor patterns: implications for elementary school physical education', in 'Psychology of motor behavior and sport − 1979', edited by C Nadeau, W Halliwell, G Roberts and K Newell, Human Kinetics, 1980, pages 314 to 323.
- 68. TL McKenzie, JE Alcaraz, JF Sallis and FN Faucette, 'Effects of a physical education program on children's manipulative skills', in 'Journal Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 17, 1998, pages 327 to 341. €
- 69. K Howells, A Carney, L Castle and R Little, 'Mastering primary physical education', Bloomsbury Academic, 2018. €
- 70. W O'Brien, S Belton and J Issartel, 'Fundamental movement skill proficiency amongst adolescent youth', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 21, 2016, pages 557 to 571. €
- 71. J-F Grehaigne, P Godbout and D Bouthier, 'The foundations of tactics and strategy in team sports', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 18, 1999, pages 159 to 174.
- 72. S Mitchell, J Oslin and L Griffin, 'Teaching sport concepts and skills', Human Kinetics, 2006. €

- 73. A Kaya, 'Decision making by coaches and athletes in sport', in 'Procedia Social and Behavioural Sciences', 2014, pages 333 to 338. €
- 74. DM Castelli and A Chen, 'Large-scale physical education interventions: past, present, and future', in 'Kinesiology Review', Volume 7, 2018, pages 259 to 265.€
- 75. J Wright, G O'Flynn and D MacDonald, 'Being fit and looking healthy: young women's and men's constructions of health and fitness', in 'Sex Roles', Volume 54, 2006, pages 707 to 716.€
- 76. A Deng, T Zhang and A Chen, 'Challenges in learning aerobic and anaerobic concepts: an interpretative understanding from the cognitive load theory perspective', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 26, 2021, pages 633 to 648. €
- 77. T Zhang, A Chen, S Yli-Piipari, J Loflin, S Wells, R Schweighhardt, K Moennich, D Hong and CD Ennis, 'Prior knowledge determines interest in learning in physical education: a structural growth model perspective', in 'Learning and Individual Differences', Volume 51, 2016, pages 132 to 140.€
- 78. M Bowler and P Sammon, 'Health-based physical education (part 1)', in 'Physical Education Matters', Volume 15, 2020, pages 60 to 63. €
- 79. M Quennerstedt, 'Healthying physical education on the possibility of learning health', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 24, 2019, pages 1 to 15.€
- 80. D Lemov, 'The coach's guide to teaching', John Catt, 2020. €
- 81. IL Beck, MG McKeown and L Kucan, 'Bringing words to life', The Guilford Press, 2013.
- 82. KA Lawless and JM Kulikowich, 'Domain knowledge and individual interest: the effects of academic level and specialization in statistics and psychology', in 'Contemporary Educational Psychology', Volume 31, 2006, pages 30 to 43. *≥*
- 83. T Zhang, A Chen, S Yli-Piipari, J Loflin, S Wells, R Schweighhardt, K Moennich, D Hong and CD Ennis, 'Prior knowledge determines interest in learning in physical education: a structural growth model perspective', in 'Learning and Individual Differences', Volume 51, 2016, pages 132 to 140.€
- 84. D Lemov, 'The coach's guide to teaching', John Catt, 2020. €
- 85. J Muller and M Young, 'Knowledge, power and powerful knowledge re-visited', in 'The Curriculum Journal', Volume 30, 2019, pages 196 to 214.€
- 86. JR Anderson, 'How can the human mind occur in the physical universe?' Oxford University Press, 2007. *₽*
- 87. A Chatzipanteli, N Digelidis, C Karatzoglidis and RA Dean, 'A tactical-game approach and enhancement of metacognitive behaviour in elementary school students', in 'Physical Education Sport and Pedagogy', Volume 21, 2016, pages 169 to 184. €
- 88. S Wright, M McNeill, J Fry and J Wang, 'Teaching teachers to play and teach games', in

- 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 10, 2005, pages 61 to 82; CD Ennis, 'Knowledge, transfer, and innovation in physical literacy curricula', in 'Journal of Sport and Health Science', Volume 4, 2015, pages 119 to 124.€
- 89. T Zhang, A Chen, S Yli-Piipari, J Loflin, S Wells, R Schweighhardt, K Moennich, D Hong and CD Ennis, 'Prior knowledge determines interest in learning in physical education: a structural growth model perspective', in 'Learning and Individual Differences', Volume 51, 2016, pages 132 to 140.↩
- 90. JY Chow, K Davids, C Button, R Shuttleworth, I Renshaw and D Araujo, 'The role of nonlinear pedagogy in Physical Education', in 'Review of Educational Research', Volume 77, 2007, pages 251 to 278. €
- 91. SM Barnett and SJ Ceci, 'When and where do we apply what we learn? A taxonomy for far transfer', in 'Psychological Bulletin', Volume 128, 2002, pages 612 to 637. €
- 92. Z Chen and D Klahr, 'Remote transfer of scientific-reasoning and problem-solving strategies in children', in 'Advances in Child Development and Behavior', Volume 36, 2008, pages 419 to 470.€
- 93. JS Brown, A Collins and P Duguid, 'Situated cognition and the culture of learning', in 'Educational Researcher', Volume 18, 1989, pages 32 to 42; RK Sawyer, 'A call to action: the challenges of creative teaching and learning', in 'Teachers College Record', Volume 117, 2012, pages 1 to 34. *ఆ*
- 94. S Bailin, R Case, JR Coombs and LB Daniels, 'Conceptualizing critical thinking', in 'Journal of Curriculum Studies', Volume 31, 1999, pages 285 to 302. €
- 95. M Fordham, 'Knowledge: independently necessary of collectively sufficient?', Clio et cetera, 2017. ←
- 96. 'Obesity, healthy eating and physical activity in primary schools', Ofsted, July 2018. €
- 97. T Mattsson and S Lundvall, 'The position of dance in physical education', in 'Sport, Education and Society', Volume 20, 2015, pages 855 to 871; S Fairclough, G Stratton and G Baldwin, 'The contribution of secondary school physical education to lifetime physical activity', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 8, 2002, pages 69 to 84. €
- 98. 'Obesity, healthy eating and physical activity in primary schools', Ofsted, July 2018. €
- 99. D Morley, R Bailey, J Tan and B Cooke, 'Inclusive physical education: teachers' views of including pupils with special educational needs and/or disabilities in physical education', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 11, 2005, pages 84 to 107; AJ Maher, "We've got a few who don't go to PE": learning support assistant and special educational needs coordinator views on inclusion in physical education in England', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 23 Issue 2, 2017, pages 257 to 270. €
- 100. D Kirk, 'Physical education futures', Routledge, 2010, quote on page 7. €

- 101. E Bernstein, S Phillips and S Silverman, 'Attitudes and perceptions of middle school students toward competitive activities in physical education', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 30, 2011, pages 69 to 83.€
- 102. A Brian, N Getchell, L True, A De Meester and D Stodden, 'Reconceptualising and operationalising Seefeldt's proficiency barrier: applications and future directions', in 'Sports Medicine', Volume 50, 2020, pages 1889 to 1900. €
- 103. R Mayer, 'Should there be a three-strikes rule against pure discovery learning? The case for guided methods of instruction', in 'American Psychologist', Volume 59, 2004, pages 14 to 19; JY Chow, K Davids, C Button, R Shuttleworth, I Renshaw and D Araujo, 'The role of nonlinear pedagogy in physical education', in 'Review of Educational Research', Volume 77, 2007, pages 251 to 278.€
- 104. A Deng, T Zhang and A Chen, 'Challenges in learning aerobic and anaerobic concepts: an interpretative understanding from the cognitive load theory perspective', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 26, 2021, pages 633 to 648; T Zhang, A Chen, S Yli-Piipari, J Loflin, S Wells, R Schweighhardt, K Moennich, D Hong and CD Ennis, 'Prior knowledge determines interest in learning in physical education: a structural growth model perspective', in 'Learning and Individual Differences', Volume 51, 2016, pages 132 to 140. €
- 105. S Mitchell, J Oslin and L Griffin, 'Teaching sport concepts and skills', Human Kinetics, 2006.
- 106. R Caput-Jogunica, D Loncaric and S De Privitellio, 'Extracurricular sport activities in preschool children: impact on motor achievements and physical literacy', in 'Croatian Sports Medicine Journal', Volume 24, 2009, pages 82 to 88; A De Meester, N Aelterman, G Cardon, I De Bourdeaudhuij and L Haerens, 'Extra-curricular school-based sports motivating vehicle for sports participation in youth: a cross sectional study', in 'International Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity', Volume 11, 2014; O Williams, G Wiltshire and K Gibson, 'Health inequalities: how and why physical education can help and hinder the equity agenda', in 'Critical pedagogies in physical education, physical activity and health', edited by J Stirrup and O Hooper, Routledge, 2021, pages 170 to 183. €
- 107. M Graham, M Wright, LB Azevedo, T Macpherson, D Jones and A Innerd, 'The school playground environment as a driver of primary school children's physical activity behaviour: a direct observation case study', in 'Journal of Sports Sciences', Volume 39, 2021, pages 2266 to 2278.€
- 108. N Shields and A Synnot, 'Perceived barriers and facilitators to participation in physical activity for children with disability: a qualitative study', in 'BMC Pediatrics', Volume 16, 2016. €
- 109. K Dixon, S Braye and T Gibbons, 'Still outsiders: the inclusion of disabled children and young people in physical education in England', in 'Disability & Society', 2021. €
- 110. <u>'Education inspection framework: overview of research'</u>, Ofsted, January 2019. *←*
- 111. 'Great teaching toolkit: evidence review', Evidence Based Education, June 2020. €

- 112. JA Moreno, D Gonzalez-Cutre, J Martin-Albo and E Cervello, 'Motivation and performance in physical education: an experimental test', in 'Journal of Sports Science and Medicine', Volume 9, 2010, pages 79 to 85.€
- 113. S Carlon, N Shields, K Dodd and N Taylor, 'Differences in habitual physical activity levels of young people with cerebral palsy and their typically developing peers: a systematic review', in 'Disability Rehabilitation', Volume 35, 2013, pages 647 to 655; G Frey, HI Stanish and VA Temple, 'Physical activity of youth with intellectual disability: review and research agenda', in 'Adapative Physical Activity Quarterly', Volume 25, 2008, pages 95 to 117.€
- 114. C Ames, 'Classrooms: goals, structures, and student motivation', in 'Journal of educational psychology', Volume 84, 1992, pages 261 to 271. €
- 115. DL Ball, MH Thames and G Phelps, 'Content knowledge for teaching: what makes it special?', in 'Journal of Teacher Education', Volume 59, 2008, pages 389 to 407. 

  ∠
- 116. 'Great teaching toolkit: evidence review', Evidence Based Education, June 2020.€
- 117. P Iserbyt, P Ward and W Li, 'Effects of improved content knowledge on pedagogical content knowledge and student performance in physical education', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 22, 2017, pages 71 to 88.€
- 118. DC Geary, 'Reflections of evolution and culture in children's cognition: implications for mathematical development and instruction', in 'American Psychologist', Volume 50, 1995, pages 24 to 37.
- 119. CJ Cushion, 'Applying game centered approaches in coaching: a critical analysis of the "dilemmas of practice" impacting change', in 'Sports Coaching Review', Volume 2, 2013, pages 61 to 76.€
- 120. D Dudley, A Okely, P Pearson and W Cotton, 'A systematic review of the effectiveness of physical education and school sport interventions targeting physical activity, movement skills and enjoyment of physical activity', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 17, 2011, pages 353 to 378. *≥*
- 121. L Robinson, D Stodden, LM Barnett, VP Lopes, SW Logan, L Paulo Rodrigues and E D'Hondt, 'Motor competence and its effect on positive development trajectories of health', in 'Sports Medicine', Volume 45, 2015, pages 1273 to 1284.€
- 122. A Brian and S Taunton, 'Effectiveness of motor skill intervention varies based on implementation strategy', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 23, 2018, pages 222 to 233. €
- 123. JG Nicholls, 'Achievement motivation: conceptions of ability, subjective experience, task choice, and performance', in 'Psychological Review', Volume 91, 1984, pages 328 to 346. €
- 124. E Cope and C Cushion, 'A move towards reconceptualising direct instruction in sport coaching pedagogy', in 'Impact: Journal of the Chartered College of Teaching', Issue 10, 2020, pages 70 to 73.€

- 125. D Dudley, A Okely, P Pearson and W Cotton, 'A systematic review of the effectiveness of physical education and school sport interventions targeting physical activity, movement skills and enjoyment of physical activity', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 17, 2011, pages 353 to 378; L Robinson, D Stodden, LM Barnett, VP Lopes, SW Logan, L Paulo Rodrigues and E D'Hondt, 'Motor competence and its effect on positive development trajectories of health', in 'Sports Medicine', Volume 45, 2015, pages 1273 to 1284. €
- 126. S Pill, 'Play with purpose: game sense to sport literacy', Australian Council for Health, Physical Education and Recreation, 2013. €
- 127. J Sweller, 'Cognitive load during problem solving: effects on learning', in 'Cognitive Science', Volume 12, 1988, pages 257 to 285; C Nash and D Collins, 'Tacit knowledge in expert coaching: science or art?', in 'Quest', Volume 58, 2006, pages 465 to 477. €
- 128. SL McPherson and MW Kernodle, 'Tactics, the neglected attribute of expertise: problem representations and performance skills in tennis', in 'Expert Performance in Sports: Advances in Research on Sport Expertise', edited by JL Starkes and KA Ericsson, Human Kinetics, 2003, pages 137 to 168. *←*
- 129. D Kirk, R Brooker and S Braiuka, 'Teaching games for understanding: a situated perspective on student learning', Paper presented at the American Educational Research Association Annual Meeting, New Orleans, April 2000.€
- 130. KE French, JH Spurgeon and ME Nevett, 'Expert-novice differences in cognitive and skill execution components of youth baseball performance', in 'Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport', Volume 66, 1995, pages 194 to 201. €
- 131. J Rink, 'Task presentation in pedagogy', in 'Quest', Volume 46, 1994, pages 270 to 280. €
- 132. WR Carroll and A Bandura, 'The role of visual monitoring in observational learning of action patterns: making the unobservable observable', in 'Journal of Motor Behavior', Volume 14, 1982, pages 153 to 167. €
- 133. E Hebert, 'The effects of observing a learning model (or two) on motor skill acquisition', in 'Journal of Motor Learning and Development', Volume 6, 2018, pages 4 to 17. €
- 134. D Knudson, 'Fundamentals of biomechanics: second edition', Springer, 2007.
- 135. 'Metacognition and self-regulated learning guidance', Education Endowment Foundation, April 2018.€
- 136. JA Adams, 'Use of the model's knowledge of results to increase the observer's performance', in 'Journal of Human Movement Studies', Volume 12, 1986, pages 89 to 98.€
- 137. M Metzler, 'A review of research on time in sport pedagogy', in 'Journal of teaching in Physical Education', Volume 8, 1989, pages 87 to 103. €
- 138. SL McPherson and MW Kernodle, 'Tactics, the neglected attribute of expertise: problem representations and performance skills in tennis', in 'Expert Performance in Sports: Advances in

- Research on Sport Expertise', edited by JL Starkes and KA Ericsson, Human Kinetics, 2003, pages 137 to 168.€
- 139. AGM de Bruijn, R Mombarg and AC Timmermans, 'The importance of satisfying children's basic psychological needs in primary school physical education for PE motivation, and its relations with fundamental motor and PE-related skills', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', 2021. €
- 140. DL Gallahue, JC Ozmun and JD Goodway, 'Understanding motor development: infants, children, adolescents, adults', McGraw-Hill, 2012; L Kelly, S O'Connor, A Harrison and NJ NíChéilleachair, 'Effects of an 8-week school-based intervention programme on Irish school children's fundamental movement skills', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 26, 2021, pages 593 to 612. €
- 141. J Rudd, L O'Callaghan and J Williams, 'Physical education pedagogies built upon theories of movement learning: how can environmental constraints be manipulated to improve children's executive function and self-regulation skills?', in 'International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health', Volume 16, 2019, pages 1 to 8.€
- 142. E Bjork and R Bjork, 'Making things hard on yourself, but in a good way: creating desirable difficulties to enhance learning', in 'Psychology and the real world: essays illustrating fundamental contributions to society', edited by M Gernsbacher and J Pomerantz, Worth, 2014, pages 59 to 68.€
- 143. PA Hastie, J Johnson and ME Rudisill, 'An analysis of the attraction and holding power of skill stations used in a mastery motivational climate for preschool children', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 23, 2018, pages 37 to 53.€
- 144. S Chepko and R Doan, 'Teaching skill mastery', in 'Journal of Physical Education, Recreation and Dance', Volume 86, 2015, pages 9 to 13. €
- 145. B Gibbs, M Quennerstedt and H Larsson, 'Teaching dance in physical education using exergames', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 23, 2017, pages 237 to 256. €
- 146. SJM van Cappelen, F van Abswoude, H Krajenbrink and B Steenbergen, 'Motor learning in children with developmental coordination disorder: the role of focus of attention and working memory', in 'Human Movement Science', Volume 62, 2018, pages 211 to 220; M Smith and CJ Cushion, 'An investigation of the in-game behaviours of professional, top-level youth soccer coaches', in 'Journal of Sports Science', Volume 24, 2006, pages 355 to 366; R Sigrist, G Rauter, R Riener and P Wolf, 'Augmented visual, auditory, haptic, and multimodal feedback in motor learning: a review', in 'Psychonomic Bulletin and Review', Volume 20, 2013, pages 21 to 53.€
- 147. Y Zhou, W De Shao and L Wang, 'Effects of feedback on students' motor skill learning in physical education: a systematic review', in 'International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health', Volume 18, 2021. €
- 148. CH Lee and S Kalyuga, 'Expertise reversal effect and its instructional implications', in 'Applying

- science of learning in education: infusing psychological science into the curriculum', edited by VA Benassi, CE Overson and CM Hakala, Society for the Teaching of Psychology, 2014, pages 32 to 44.
- 149. FW Otte, K Davids, SK Millar and S Klatt, 'When and how to provide feedback and instructions to athletes? How sport psychology and pedagogy insights can improve coaching interventions to enhance self-regulation in training', in 'Frontiers in Psychology', Volume 11, 2020, page 1444.
- 150. D Knudson, 'Fundamentals of biomechanics: second edition', Springer, 2007. €
- 151. SM Brookhart and J McMillan, 'Classroom assessment and educational measurement', Routledge, 2020.€
- 152. 'Association for Physical Education "Health Position Paper", in 'Physical Education Matters', Volume 10, 2015, pages 87 to 90. €
- 153. N Beale, E Eldridge, A Delextrat, P Esser, O Bushnell, E Curtis, T Wassenaar, C Wheatley, H Johansen-Berg and H Dawes, 'Exploring activity levels in physical education lessons in the UK: a cross-sectional examination of activity types and fitness levels', in 'BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine', Volume 7, 2021. €
- 154. J Duda, 'Maximising motivation in sport and physical education among children and adolescents: the case for greater task involvement', in 'Quest', Volume 48, 1996, pages 290 to 302. €
- 155. K Howells, A Carney, L Castle and R Little, 'Mastering primary physical education', Bloomsbury Academic, 2018. €
- 156. JL Hollis, AJ Williams, R Sutherland, 'A systematic review and meta-analysis of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity levels in elementary school physical education lessons', in 'Preventive Medicine', Volume 86, 2016, pages 34 to 54. €
- 157. K Howells, A Carney, L Castle and R Little 'Mastering primary physical education', Bloomsbury Academic, 2018. €
- 158. DL Shields and C Funk, 'Teach to compete', in 'Strategies: A journal for Physical and Sport Educators', Volume 24, 2011, pages 8 to 11.€
- 159. S Beni, T Fletcher and D Ní Chróinín, 'Using features of meaningful experiences to guide primary physical education practice', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 25, 2019, pages 599 to 615. €
- 160. P Sanderson, 'Dance within the national curriculum for physical education of England and Wales', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 2, 1996, pages 54 to 63; A Garn and DJ Cothran, 'The fun factor in physical education', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 25, 2006, pages 281 to 298. €
- 161. P Hastie and I Mesquita, 'Sport-based physical education', in 'Routledge handbook of physical education pedagogies', edited by CD Ennis, Routledge, 2017, pages 68 to 84. €
- 162. AC Garn, DJ Cothran and JM Jenkins, 'A qualitative analysis of individual interest in middle

- school physical education: perspectives of early-adolescents', in 'Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy', Volume 16, 2011, pages 223 to 236; E Bernstein, S Phillips and S Silverman, 'Attitudes and perceptions of middle school students toward competitive activities in physical education', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 30, 2011, pages 69 to 83.
- 163. E Bernstein, S Phillips and S Silverman, 'Attitudes and perceptions of middle school students toward competitive activities in physical education', in 'Journal of teaching in Physical Education', Volume 30, 2011, pages 69 to 83.€
- 164. D Goodwin and J Watkinson, 'Inclusive physical education from the perspective of students with disabilities', in 'Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly', Volume 17, 2000, pages 144 to 160. €
- 165. H Rekaa, H Hanisch and B Ytterhus, 'Inclusion in physical education: teacher attitudes and student experiences. A systematic review', in 'International Journal of Disability, Development and Education', Volume 66, 2019, pages 36 to 55; G Toloi, E Manzini, D Spoldaro and L Zacaria, 'Inclusive classes in physical education: teachers' difficulties', in 'Journal of International Special Needs Education, Volume 19, 2016, pages 25 to 33.€
- 166. P Vickerman and A Maher, 'Teaching physical education to children with special educational needs and disabilities', Routledge, 2019. €
- 167. JY Chow, K Davids, C Button, R Shuttleworth, I Renshaw and D Araujo, 'The role of nonlinear pedagogy in physical education', in 'Review of Educational Research', Volume 77, 2007, pages 251 to 278.€
- 168. P Vickerman and A Maher, 'Teaching physical education to children with special educational needs and disabilities', Routledge, 2019. €
- 169. 'My active future: including every child', Activity Alliance, March 2020. €
- 170. G Stobart, 'Testing times: the uses and abuses of assessment', Routledge, 2008, page 112.
- 171. P Hay and D Penney, 'Assessment in physical education: a socio-cultural perspective', Routledge, 2013; M Forster, 'Informative assessment: understanding and guiding learning', Research Conference Assessment and Student Learning: Collecting, Interpreting and Using Data to Inform Teaching, 17 August 2009. €
- 172. WJ Popham, 'Assessment literacy for teachers: faddish or fundamental?', in 'Theory Into Practice', Volume 48, 2009, pages 4 to 11. €
- 173. RJ Stiggins, 'Assessment literacy', in 'Phi Delta Kappan', Volume 72, 1991, pages 534 to 539. €
- 174. P Hay and D Penney, 'Assessment in physical education: a socio-cultural perspective', Routledge, 2013. €
- 175. P Hay and D Penney, 'Assessment in physical education: a socio-cultural perspective', Routledge, 2013.€
- 176. P Black and D Wiliam, 'Assessment and classroom learning', in 'Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice', Volume 5, 1998, pages 7 to 74. €

- 177. A MacPhail and J Halbert, "We had to do intelligent thinking during recent PE": students' and teachers' experiences of assessment for learning in post-primary physical education', in 'Assessment in Education', Volume 17, 2010, pages 23 to 39.€
- 178. TR Guskey, 'How classroom assessments improve learning', in 'Educational Leadership', Volume 60, 2003, pages 6 to 11.€
- 179. A Moura, A Graça, A MacPhail and P Batista, 'Aligning the principles of assessment for learning to learning in physical education: a review of literature', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 26, 2021, pages 388 to 401. €
- 180. D Wiliam, 'What is assessment for learning?', in 'Studies in Educational Evaluation', Volume 37, 2011, pages 3 to 14.€
- 181. D Christodoulou, 'Making good progress?', Oxford University Press, 2016. €
- 182. D Christodoulou, 'Making good progress?', Oxford University Press, 2016. €
- 183. LB Borghouts, M Slingerland and L Haerens, 'Assessment quality and practices in secondary PE in the Netherlands', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 22, 2017, pages 473 to 489.↩
- 184. A Moura, A Graça, A MacPhail and P Batista, 'Aligning the principles of assessment for learning to learning in physical education: a review of literature', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 26, 2021, pages 388 to 401. €
- 185. JB Shea and RL Morgan, 'Contextual interference effects on the acquisition, retention, and transfer of a motor skill', in 'Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Learning and Memory', Volume 5, 1979, pages 179 to 187. *€*
- 186. TK Aune, AV Pederson, RP Ingvaldsen and T Dalen, 'Relative age effect and gender differences in physical education attainment in Norwegian school children', in 'Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research', Volume 61, 2017, pages 369 to 375. €
- 187. M Williams and T Wigmore, 'The best: how elite athletes are made', Nichola Brearley Publishing, 2020.*←*
- 188. K Topping, 'Trends in peer learning', in 'Educational Psychology', Volume 25, 2005, pages 631 to 645. €
- 189. J O'Loughlin, D Ní Chróinín and D O'Grady, 'Digital video: the impact on children's learning experience in primary physical education', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 19, 2013, pages 165 to 182; D Penney, A Jones, P Newhouse and A Cambell, 'Developing a digital assessment in senior secondary physical education', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 17, 2012, pages 383 to 410. €
- 190. T Zhang and H Li, 'Digital video and self-modeling in the PE classroom', in 'Digital technology in physical education: global perspectives', edited by J Koekoek and I van Holvoorde, 2018, pages 19 to 32.*←*

- 191. D Banville and MF Polifko, 'Using digital video recorders in physical education', in 'Journal of Physical Education, Recreation and Dance', Volume 80, 2009, pages 17 to 21. €
- 192. <u>'Position statement on physical education assessment'</u>, Association Internationale des Écoles Supérieures d'Éducation Physique (AIESEP), 2020. <u>←</u>
- 193. C Kerner and V Goodyear, 'Technology, pedagogy and physical education', in 'Debates in physical education', edited by S Capel and R Blair, 2020, pages 295 to 309. €
- 194. DY Silva, B Gimbert and J Nolan, 'Sliding the doors: locking and unlocking possibilities for teacher leadership', in 'Teachers College Record', Volume 102, 2000, pages 779 to 804. €
- 195. <u>'The PE and sport premium: an investigation in primary schools'</u>, Department for Education, November 2015. <u>←</u>
- 196. L Jones and K Green, 'Who teaches primary physical education? Change and transformation through the eyes of subject leaders', in 'Sport, Education and Society', Volume 22, 2017, pages 759 to 771. €
- 197. E Enright, D Kirk and D Macdonald, 'Expertise, neoliberal governmentality and the outsourcing of health and physical education', in 'Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education', Volume 41, 2020, pages 206 to 222. €
- 198. G Griggs, 'For sale primary school physical education. £20 per hour or nearest offer', in 'Education 3–13', Volume 38, 2010, pages 39 to 46. €
- 199. D Ni Chróinín and N O'Brien, 'Primary teachers' experiences of external providers in Ireland: learning lessons from physical education', in 'Irish Educational Studies', Volume 38, 2019, pages 327 to 341.€
- 200. M Jess and N Carse, 'Primary physical education', in 'Debates in Physical Education', edited by S Capel and R Blair, 2020, pages 151 to 169. €
- 201. T Fletcher and J Mandigo, 'The primary schoolteacher and physical education: a review of research and implications for Irish physical education', in 'Irish Educational Studies', Volume 31, 2012, pages 363 to 376. 

  ∠
- 202. B Williams and J Lee, 'Experts, expertise and health and physical education teaching: a scoping review of conceptualisations', in 'The Curriculum Journal', Volume 32, 2021, pages 14 to 27. €
- 203. G Griggs and V Randall, 'Primary physical education subject leadership: along the road from inhouse solutions to outsourcing', in 'Education 3–13', Volume 47, 2019, pages 664 to 677. €
- 204. K Petrie, D Penney and S Fellows, 'Health and physical education in Aotearoa New Zealand: an open market and open doors?', in 'Asia-Pacific Journal of Health, Sport and Physical Education', Volume 5, 2014, pages 19 to 38.€
- 205. L Sperka and E Enright, 'The outsourcing of health and physical education: a scoping literature review', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 24, 2018, pages 349 to 371. €

- 206. L Sperka, '(Re)defining outsourcing in education', in 'Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education', Volume 41, 2020, pages 268 to 280. €
- 207. N McEvilly 'What is PE and who should teach it? Undergraduate PE students' views and experiences of the outsourcing of PE in the UK', in 'Sport, Education and Society', 2021. €
- 208. D Ni Chróinín and N O'Brien, 'Primary teachers' experiences of external providers in Ireland: learning lessons from physical education', in 'Irish Educational Studies', Volume 38, 2019, pages 327 to 341.*←*
- 209. V Randall and G Griggs, 'Physical education from the sidelines: pre-service teachers' opportunities to teach in English primary schools', in 'Education 3–13', Volume 49, 2021, 495 to 508.€
- 210. P Vickerman and A Maher, 'Teaching physical education to children with special educational needs and disabilities', Routledge, 2019. €
- 211. V Randall, 'We want to, but we can't': pre-service teachers' experiences of learning to teach primary physical education', in 'Oxford Review of Education', 2022.
- 212. 'Primary PE and sport premium survey: research report', Department for Education, July 2019. €
- 213. 'Obesity, healthy eating and physical activity in primary schools', Ofsted, July 2018. €
- 214. <u>'The primary PE and sport premium'</u>, The All-Party Parliamentary Group on a Fit and Healthy Childhood, February 2019. €
- 215. TM Leeder and LC Beaumont, 'Lifestyle sports and physical education teachers' professional development in the United Kingdom: a qualitative survey analysis', in 'Education Sciences', Volume 11, 2021, pages 1 to 23.€
- 216. K Armour and M Yelling, 'Effective professional development for physical education teachers: the role of informal collaborative learning', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 26, 2007, pages 177 to 200. €
- 217. K Patton and M Parker, 'Teacher education communities of practice: more than a culture of collaboration', in 'Teaching and Teacher Education', Volume 67, 2017, pages 351 to 360. €
- 218. B Dyson, J Cowan, B Gordon, D Powell and B Shulruf, 'Physical education in Aotearoa New Zealand primary schools: teachers' perceptions and policy implications', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 24, 2018, pages 467 to 486. €
- 219. 'Obesity, healthy eating and physical activity in primary schools', Ofsted, July 2018. €
- 220. P Iserbyt, P Ward and W Li, 'Effects of improved content knowledge on pedagogical content knowledge and student performance in physical education', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 22, 2017, pages 71 to 88.€
- 221. S Lundvall and J Meckbach, 'Mind the gap: physical education and health and framework factor theory as a tool for analysing educational settings', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy',

- Volume 13, 2008, pages 345 to 364. €
- 222. L Alfrey, L Cale and L Webb, 'Physical education teachers continuing professional development in health-related exercise', in 'Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy', Volume 17, 2012, pages 477 to 491.*←*
- 223. A Miller, M Eather, S Gray, J Sproule, C Williams, J Gore and D Lubans, 'Can continuing professional development utilizing a game-centred approach improve the quality of physical education teaching delivered by generalist primary school teachers?', in 'European physical education review', 2016, pages 1 to 25.€
- 224. K Armour and M Yelling, 'Effective professional development for physical education teachers: the role of informal collaborative learning', in 'Journal of Teaching in Physical Education', Volume 26, 2007, pages 177 to 200; K Patton and M Parker, 'Teacher education communities of practice: more than a culture of collaboration', in 'Teaching and Teacher Education', Volume 67, 2017, pages 351 to 360. *≥*
- 225. E Hill, M Pratt, Z Kanji and A Jones Bartoli, 'Motor and coordination difficulties in children with emotional and behavioural difficulties', in 'Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties', Volume 22, 2017, pages 293 to 302. €
- 226. L Eddy, LJB Hill, M Mon-Williams, N Preston, A Daly-Smith, G Medd and DD Bingham, 'Fundamental movement skills and their assessment in primary schools from the perspective of teachers', in 'Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science', Volume 25, Issue 3, 2021, pages 236 to 249. *ఆ*
- 227. A Dobell, A Pringle, MA Faghy and CMP Roscoe, 'Educators perspectives on the value of physical education, physical activity and fundamental movement skills for early years foundation stage children in England', in 'Children', Volume 8, Issue 5, 2021. €
- 228. K Dixon, S Braye and T Gibbons, 'Still outsiders: the inclusion of disabled children and young people in physical education in England', in 'Disability & Society', 2021. €
- 229. D Morley, T Banks, C Haslingden, B Kirk, S Parkinson, T Van Rossum, I Morley and A Maher, 'Including pupils with special educational needs and/or disabilities in mainstream secondary physical education: a revisit study', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 27, 2021, pages 401 to 418; J Coates, C Mason, L Sharpe and K Drew, 'Inclusion 2020 evaluation final report', Loughborough University, 2020. €
- 230. K Dixon, S Braye and T Gibbons, 'Still outsiders: the inclusion of disabled children and young people in physical education in England', in 'Disability & Society', 2021. €
- 231. A Maher and J Macbeth, 'Physical education, resources and training: the perspective of special educational needs coordinators working in secondary schools in North-West England', in 'European Physical Education Review', Volume 20, 2014, pages 90 to 103; P Vickerman and A Maher, 'Teaching physical education to children with special educational needs and disabilities', Routledge, 2019.

Is this page useful?

Yes

No

Report a problem with this page

10	pics	ŝ
		_

**Benefits** 

Births, death, marriages and care

**Business and self-employed** 

Childcare and parenting

Citizenship and living in the UK

Crime, justice and the law

Disabled people

**Driving and transport** 

**Education and learning** 

Employing people

**Environment and countryside** 

Housing and local services

Money and tax

Passports, travel and living abroad

Visas and immigration

Working, jobs and pensions

## **Government activity**

**Departments** 

**News** 

**Guidance and regulation** 

Research and statistics

Policy papers and consultations

**Transparency** 

How government works

Get involved

Help Privacy Cookies Accessibility statement Contact Terms and conditions

Rhestr o Wasanaethau Cymraeg Government Digital Service

All content is available under the Open Government Licence v3.0, except where otherwise stated



© Crown copyright